## OPEN FILE

# 1178 GEOLOGICAL SURVEY OTTAWA

## A SYNTHESIS OF HYDROCARBON MATURATION DATA

FOR THE EAST NEWFOUNDLAND BASIN

This document was produced by scanning the original publication.

Ce document est le produit d'une numérisation par balayage de la publication originale.

A report

Submitted to

Atlantic Geoscience Centre Geological Survey of Canada Dartmouth, N.S.

by

Warren B. Ervine, Ph.D., P.Eng. GeoTech Surveys Limited Lower Sackville, N.S.

August, 1984

## CONTENTS

. . .

.

_	Page
I.	INTRODUCTION
II.	SUBSURFACE TEMPERATURES
	A. Geothermal Gradients
III.	TIME-TEMPERATURE INDEX
	A. Theory of Lopatin's Model
IV.	COMPARISON OF TTI VALUES WITH GEOCHEMICAL MEASUREMENTS 35
	A. Correlation with Vitrinite Reflectance (R) Data 35 B. Correlation with Other Geochemical Information 37 C. Correlation with Depth, and with Temperature 41
V.	ORGANIC MATURATION
	A. Establishing the "Oil Window" B. Establishing the "Oil Kitchen"
VI.	HYDROCARBON GENERATION MODEL
	<ul> <li>A. Outline of the Model</li></ul>
VII.	IMPLICATIONS FOR FUTURE EXPLORATION
VIII.	CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS
IX.	REFERENCES
X.	APPENDIX
	<ul> <li>A. Procedure for Deriving Temperature Gradients</li></ul>

### ILLUSTRATIONS

Figure	s · Page	>
1.	Well Locations in the East Newfoundland Basin	
2.	Average Geothermal Gradient for the East Newfoundland Basin 8	
3.	Heat Distribution Map: Temperatures at 1000 m B.S.F 11	
4.	Heat Distribution Map: Temperatures at 2000 m B.S.F 12	
5.	Heat Distribution Map: Temperatures at 3000 m B.S.F 13	
6.	Heat Distribution Map: Temperatures at 4000 m B.S.F 14	
7.	Heat Distribution Map: Temperatures at 5000 m B.S.F 15	
8.	Generalized Tectonic Framework	
9.	Linear Depth-Temperature Values	
10.	Flow Chart: Procedure for Constructing TTI Model	
11.	Burial History Curves and Temperature Grid: An Example 28	
12.	Geothermal Gradient: An Example	
13.	Correlation of TTI with $R_0$	
14.	Correlation of TTI with TAI	
15.	Correlation of TTI with Fluorescence Colour	
16.	Correlation of TTI with Fluorescence Intensity	
17.	Correlation of TTI with CPI	
18.	Correlation of TTI with Depth (B.S.L.)	
19.	Correlation of TTI with Temperature (°C)	
20.	The "Oil Window" for Nautilus C-92: An Example	
21.	Depth to "Oil Kitchen"	
22.	Hydrocarbon Model Based on Atomic H/C Ratio	
23.	Revised Oil and Gas Generation Model	
24.	Effect of Increasing Temperature on Kerogen Type	
lA.	Correlation of 50-Hour and CT Projections	

-

## TABLES

	Page	3
1.	Wells in the East Newfoundland Basin Used in this Study 4	
2.	Temperatures for Specified Depths (B.S.F.)	
3.	Temperature Factors for Different Temperature Intervals 24	
4.	Cumulative Thicknesses for Specified Horizons: An Example . 27	
5.	Segment Data of the Geothermal Gradient: An Example 30	
6.	Depth Values of Temperature Grid: An Example	
7.	TTI Equivalents for the "Oil Window"	
8.	Summarized Data for Hydrocarbon Generation Model	
9.	Classification of Organic Matter in Sedimentary Rocks 58	
la.	TTI Values for Specified Horizons in Each Well	

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Petroleum geologists generally agree that oil and gas are generated from sedimentary organic matter by a gradual increase in temperature over a long period of time. The factors of time and temperature act in the same direction to develop or mature any buried organic material so that a fluid fraction is produced. Other factors, such as pressure, type and quantity of organic matter, and tectonic history also play a role in the overall maturation process, but their relative value has only recently been reported (e.g. Powell and Snowdon, 1983).

Measuring the degree of maturity has been a prime objective in petroleum exploration for many years. A number of methods have been tried with quite a wide range of success. Thermal maturity of organic material has been measured, for example, by vitrinite reflectance ( $R_0$ ), thermal alteration index (TAI), carbon preference index (CPI), kerogen hydrogen/carbon (H/C) ratio, bitumen/organic carbon ratio (Bit/C<sub>org</sub>), per cent expandable clays, and gravity (API). All these methods involve considerable subjectivity in deriving values for maturation.

Only recently was it possible to provide an almost completely objective evaluation of maturity. Pioneer work by Lopatin (1969, 1971) and subsequent efforts by Waples (1980), and Issler (1982, 1984) have developed a mathematical model which uses depth and temperature measurements from well logs and age determinations from biostratigraphy to calculate a theoretical value for the maturity of any strata intersected by drilling. This value, called the time-temperature index (TTI), is a calculated value of maturity and must be calibrated against other data for each basin in which it is used. This report attempts, first of all, to calculate TTI values using a schematic model modified after the one proposed by Lopatin (1971) and secondly, to calibrate these values by comparing them with vitrinite reflectance data, thermal alteration indices and with other geochemical information. Thirdly, this information on maturity is correlated with hydrocarbon occurrences, type and quantity of organic material and with geology to create a hydrocarbon generation model for the East Newfoundland Basin. All information for the model has been gathered from the 23 wells listed in Table 1 shown with their location coordinates and total depths. Their geographic locations and those of other drilled wells not used in this study are shown on a general map of the area (Figure 1).

Data for this report has been drawn from many sources, mostly at the Atlantic Geoscience Centre, Dartmouth, N.S. Particularly useful paleontological and geochemical reports have been written by Piero Ascoli, M. Sedley Barss, Jonathan P. Bujak, Edward H. Davies, P. Doeven, F. M. Gradstein, Peter A. Hacquebard, and Graham L. Williams. Some general information has been drawn from well history reports written by staff workers at Mobil Oil, Chevron Oil, and Imperial Oil. The well logs run by Schlumberger and by Dresser Atlas also provided considerable data. All published information is referenced (See References).

The writer would like to thank K. Donald McAlpine, Atlantic Geoscience Centre, for his assistance in providing relevant data and information on the geology and petroleum occurrences for this area and for his constructive criticism of the manuscript. Carolyn J. Ervine, Research Associate, GeoTech Surveys Limited, is responsible for the calculations and graphic displays in this report.

- 2 -



## TABLE 1

- 4 -

# Wells in the East Newfoundland Basin

Used in this Study

Well Name		Lat	itude			Lon	gitude		Total De	epth <sup>*</sup>
Adolphus D-50	46 <sup>0</sup>	59 <b>1</b>	03.06"	N	48 <sup>0</sup>	221	28.86"	W	3656	т
Adolphus 2K-41	47 <sup>0</sup>	001	40.56"	Ν	48 <sup>0</sup>	221	06.47"	W	3626	m
Ben Nevis I-45	46 <sup>0</sup>	34:	39•74"	Ν	48 <sup>0</sup>	211	09.84"	W	4905	m
Bonnition H-32	45 <sup>0</sup>	51:	26.79"	Ν	48 <sup>0</sup>	19:	31.76"	W	3017	m
Cormorant N-83	46°	021	45•43"	Ν	48 <sup>0</sup>	58 <b>1</b>	02.07"	W	3131	m
Dominion 0-23	47 <sup>0</sup>	221	49.14"	N	48 <sup>0</sup>	181	27.90"	W	3968	m
Egret K-36	46 <sup>0</sup>	251	37.88"	N	48 <sup>0</sup>	50 <b>:</b>	22.38"	W	3323	m
Egret N-46	46 <sup>0</sup>	251	56.14"	N	48 <sup>0</sup>	51'	42.35"	W	2713	m
Flying Foam I-13	47 <sup>0</sup>	021	41.961	Ν	48 <sup>0</sup>	461	30.98"	W	3652	m
Hebron I-13	46°	321	33.95"	N	48 <sup>0</sup>	31'	45•47"	W	4696	m
Hibernia B-08	46°	471	06.36"	Ν	48 <sup>0</sup>	45 <b>'</b>	29.87"	W	4408	m
Hibernia G-55	46 <sup>0</sup>	441	17.07"	Ν	48 <sup>0</sup>	53 <b>'</b>	10.75"	W	3430	m
Hibernia I-46	46 <sup>0</sup>	45 <b>'</b>	39.00"	N	48 <sup>0</sup>	51:	18.64"	W	3403	m
Hibernia J-34	46 <sup>0</sup>	43 <b>1</b>	33.84"	Ν	48 <sup>0</sup>	50 <b>'</b>	13.00"	W	3683	m
Hibernia K-18	46°	471	34•69"	N	48 <sup>0</sup>	47 <b>1</b>	17.05"	W	5009	m
Hibernia 0-35	46°	441	54.92"	N	48 <sup>0</sup>	49 <b>'</b>	53•74"	W	4764	ш
Hibernia P-15	46°	44 <b>'</b>	58 <b>.</b> 98"	N	48 <sup>0</sup>	46 <b>1</b>	51.18"	W	4395	ш
Murre G-67	46°	061	20.40"	N	49 <sup>0</sup>	09 <b>!</b>	38.20"	W	3307	m
Nautilus C-92	46°	51:	03 <b>.</b> 55"	Ν	48 <sup>0</sup>	44 <b>'</b>	20.64"	W	5090	m ·
Skua E-41	45 <sup>0</sup>	201	23.23"	N	48 <sup>0</sup>	521	26.26"	W	3209	m
South Tempest G-88	47 <sup>0</sup>	071	19.92"	N	47 <sup>0</sup>	571	30 <b>.</b> 48"	W	4647	m
Spoonbill C-30	45 <sup>0</sup>	49 <b>1</b>	06.47"	N	49 <sup>0</sup>	041	06.18"	W	2727	m
West Flying Foam L-23	47 <sup>0</sup>	021	43.70"	N	48 <sup>0</sup>	49 <b>1</b>	17.20"	W	4527	m

\*Below Mean Sea Level

#### II. SUBSURFACE TEMPERATURES

#### A. Geothermal Gradients

In order to obtain some understanding of the subsurface thermal regime now present in the East Newfoundland Basin, a graphic representation of the geothermal gradient has been drawn for each well for which there was adequate depth and temperature information recorded on their respective well log headings. This information includes: date of log, elevation of rotary table, water depth, depth (to temperature measurement), temperature, time drilling stopped, time circulation stopped, time of temperature measurement, and time since circulation. (See the Appendix for details on each of these parameters.) Unfortunately, much of the data is missing, incorrect, confusing and even contradictory. It appears that in the past little importance was given to recording accurate times and temperatures on well log headings.

The raw depth and temperature information, as it appears on the headings, had to be adjusted or "corrected" to make it useful for drawing the gradients. The depth data was corrected to a sea-floor datum and, where necessary, converted to the metric system. The temperature data was corrected by two methods described in the Appendix and converted, where necessary, to degrees Celsius. These corrected data were then used to construct temperature-depth graphs for the 23 wells used in this study. The graphic results are in the Appendix.

Three kinds of bottomhole temperatures were used to construct the graphs. Corrected temperatures derived by the CT projection (i.e. where circulation times were recorded) are indicated by a "."; those derived by the TSC projection (i.e. where no circulation times were recorded) are indicated by

- 5 -

an "x". Where only one temperature was recorded for a given depth, it was impossible to make any sort of projection or correction. This lone temperature is therefore only a minimum value and so was plotted on the graphs by an arrow pointing to the right (i.e. toward higher temperatures). In most cases a straight line was simply drawn between points to represent the most obvious trend in values. Most inflection points therefore coincide with data points, although other interpretations are possible. In drawing the straight lines, the points derived by the projections were given equal value, but the arrows were not considered.

- 6 -

The geothermal gradients for the wells in the East Newfoundland Basin appear to be of two types: straight and doglegged. Eight of the wells (Bonnition, Dominion, Egret K-36, Egret N-46, Murre, West Flying Foam, Skua and South Tempest) have reasonably straight lines passing through  $0^{\circ}$ C at the sea floor and extending to a depth of 4000 to 5000 metres. These wells have approximately the same gradient (3.0±0.2°C/100m) and are generally at some considerable distance from the Hibernia field.

On the other hand, as many as eleven wells (including the 7 Hibernias, Flying Foam, Ben Nevis, Hebron and probably Nautilus) have gradients reasonably similar to each other and to the "straight" variety to a depth of about 2600 metres. However, from that point these geothermal gradients suddenly steepen (or decrease in value) for 600 to 900 m, below which they continue the initial gradient to create a "dogleg" shape. These gradients are reasonably similar to each other in shape, depth and temperature characteristics. All are relatively close to the Hibernia field.

There may be a possible explanation for the dogleg shape. Heat flow is the product of the geothermal gradient and the thermal conductivity of the rocks through which the heat passes. So, if the heat flow is assumed to be

uniform, then changes in the gradient must be reflected in corresponding changes in the thermal conductivity of the rocks, i.e. higher gradients are produced by rocks of lower conductivity. Therefore, the low gradient below 2600 m resulting in the dogleg effect might be caused by a thick section of strata (say, up to 1000 m) of high conductivity in or near the Hibernia field.

-7-

However, the stratigraphy of this area does not support the possibility that there could be strata of these characteristics at a common depth of 2600 m. It is more likely that pore fluids under pressures greater than hydrostatic are responsible for the unusual shape. Because pore fluids have lower thermal conductivity which therefore create higher gradients, a rock tending towards increased porosity through restricted compaction should show higher gradients. It is interesting to note that in most of the wells with the dogleg gradient, the top of the overpressure zone occurs at close to the same depth as the Verrill Canyon shales and both features fall near the base of the crooked part of the dogleg gradient. Perhaps the Verrill Canyon shales act as an effective barrier to fluids contained in the Jurassic rocks below. This will then produce overpressures which will tend to increase the geothermal gradient beneath the shales and, if leakage has occurred, decrease the gradient above the shales.

A few wells closely associated with piercement salt diapirs, salt pillows, or salt beds (i.e. Cormorant, Adolphus D-50, Adolphus 2K-41, Spoonbill, and perhaps Hibernia I-46) have gradients which, at different depths, tend to increase for several hundred metres (i.e. the slope of the curve flattens) and then abruptly to decrease to nearly vertical (i.e. the gradient diminishes to nearly zero). The vertical part is undoubtedly due to the high thermal conductivity of salt. The gentler slope above could be a combination of the higher thermal gradients (i.e. low conductivity) associated with caprocks and the effect of a lag in thermal equilibrium for rocks overlying a rapidly rising diapir.



To show how consistent all the gradients are, a composite graph has been drawn using all available data (Figure 2). The gradients for closely spaced wells were averaged first as a group so that the resulting composite gradient could be based on a more even distribution of information. Specifically, average gradients were made for the Hibernias (B-08, G-55, I-46, J-34, K-18, O-35, P-15), Adolphuses (D-50, 2K-41), Egrets (K-36, N-46) and Flying Foams (I-13, I-23). Average values from each of these groups were then used for the composite gradient to represent their respective locations. A "best-fit" straight line was easily drawn through the data points, resulting in a composite geothermal gradient of  $3.10^{\circ}$ C/100m. It is interesting to note that the line passes through 0°C at the sea floor, a temperature probably not much different from actual sea-floor values (Hyndman et al, 1979; John A. Wade, pers. comm.).

- 9 -

## B. <u>Heat Distribution Maps</u>

From the geothermal gradients a series of heat distribution maps has been drawn to show different subsurface temperatures on a regional basis. Temperatures have been selected for depths of 1000, 2000, 3000, 4000, and 5000 metres below sea floor (Table 2, Figures 3 to 7). An attempt has been made to show mutual relationships by adding contouring, although much of this was difficult, especially where the temperature values of two closely spaced wells differ more than those of many widely spaced wells.

The maps reveal some interesting patterns.

1. There are at least 3 areas showing above-average temperatures:

(a) A zone around the Adolphuses has a temperature contrast with the surrounding areas which increases with depth. The high temperatures in this zone probably reflect the increasing influence of salt diapirs with depth.

(b) A zone around Cormorant has a temperature contrast which decreases

- 10 -

TI	<b>JBLE</b>	2

# Temperatures for Specified Depths $(B_{\bullet}S_{\bullet}F_{\bullet})*$

	Temperatures ( <sup>o</sup> C)				
Well Name	1000 m	2000 m	3000 m	4000 m	5000 m
Adolphus D-50	36.5	73.0	113.5	(136.5)	(167.5)
Adolphus 2K-41	31.0	68.0	112.0	(113.5)	(115.0)
Ben Nevis I-45	28.5	60.0	79.0	107.5	137.5
Bonnition H-32	29 <b>•1</b> 5	58.5	(87•5)	(119.0)	(150.0)
Cormorant N-83	36.5	66.5	(84.5)		
Dominion 0-23	31.5	62.0	92.5	(123.5)	(155.0)
Egret K-36	28.5	56.0	80.5	(110.5)	(141.5)
Egret N-46	31.5	61.5	(91.0)	(121.5)	(152.5)
Flying Foam I-13	34•5	67.0	92.5	(117.5)	(149.5)
Hebron I-13	29.0	57.5	78.0	99•5	(135.0)
Hibernia B-08	30.0	57.0	80.0	112.0	(145.0)
Hibernia G-55	32.0	60.5	74.0	(96.5)	(127.0)
Hibernia I-46	32.5	58.5	79.0	(107.0)	(138.0)
Hibernia J-34	33.5	55.0	70.5	(92.5)	(123.0)
Hibernia K-18	28.5	56.5	81.5	103.5	(146.5)
Hibernia 0-35	27.0	56.5	82.5	(95.5)	(126.0)
Hibernia P-15	26.0	52.0	76.0	97.5	(137.5)
Murre G-67	36.5	58.0	83.5	(113.5)	(144.5)
Nautilus C-92	30.0	60.0	89.5	113.5	152.5
Skua E-41	32.5	64.5	96.0	(127.5)	(158.5)
South Tempest G-88	28.5	57.0	81.0	(111.0)	(142.0)
Spoonbill C-30	29.0	57.5	(87.0)	(117.5)	(148.5)
West Flying Foam L-23	29.5	58.5	87.5	(117.5)	(149.0)
Y					

\*Below Sea Floor ( ) Projected value











with depth. This may be caused by thick salt beds lying not far above the Paleozoic basement. The high conductivity of the salt (i.e. low gradient) would give rise to higher heat flow (and higher gradient) in the overlying rocks. This change in gradient shows as an upward curve in the depth-temperature plot (see Appendix) and as the diminishing temperature contrast mentioned above.

- (c) A zone at Egret N-46 shows only slight changes with depth. This is probably due to its proximity to a salt ridge (Figure 8).
- 2. The eastern part of the Hibernia group shows below-average temperatures but this effect is more subtle at depth.

- 16 -

3. The values at 4000 and 5000 metres indicate a considerable northward increase in temperatures which at 5000 m amounts to 35<sup>o</sup>C in about 120 km.

#### C. Relationship to Tectonic Framework

The geology and tectonic framework of the East Newfoundland Basin has been described most recently by Benteau et al, 1982; and Arthur et al, 1982; and summarized by Procter et al, 1984. The area lies about 300 km east-southeast of St. John's, Newfoundland, on the northeastern flank of the Avalon Uplift. Several northeasterly trending, graben-generated subbasins trend northeastward across the Uplift. The largest of these, the Jeanne D'Arc Subbasin, is bounded on the west by the Bonavista Platform, the eastern margin of which forms thehinge line for the Basin as a whole, and the Outer Ridge Complex about which little is known (Figure 8). Triassic, Jurassic and thick Lower Cretaceous clastic sediments filling these subbasins lie unconformably beneath thin Upper Cretaceous clastics and limestone and eastward thickening Tertiary shales. Salt beds, some of which have formed diapirs, occur not far above the Paleozoic basement. Post-Paleozoic sedimentary thickness in the Jeanne D'Arc Subbasin ranges from a few 1000 m at its margins to more than 12,000 m near the middle (Figure 8).



In order to reveal any relationship between the thermal regime and the tectonic framework, a simple approximation of the geothermal gradient at each well was determined by the slope of a straight line joining the deepest temperature with the sea-floor temperature. The single value for each well was plotted on the tectonic map and contours drawn at intervals of  $0.25^{\circ}$ C/100m (Figure 9).

- 18 -

There appears to be considerable correlation between the thermal pattern of contoured geothermal data and the tectonic framework. The pattern is similar in shape, size and position to the basement physiography of the Jeanne D'Arc Subbasin. The highest gradients occur in the middle and narrow southwestern "arm" of the Subbasin where the sediments are thickest, and decrease both easterly and westerly towards a shallower basement. Both patterns appear to continue northward but in a somewhat narrower configuration. The greatest lateral change in temperature gradients occurs along the western side corresponding to the relatively steep slopes along the basement hinge zone; a less rapid change in temperature reflects the more gentle slopes of the eastern side of the Subbasin.

A similar relationship has been found on the Scotian Shelf where low gradients occur over basement highs and near-shore areas, and high gradients occur seaward over thickening sedimentary sequences. Also, in the Vienna Basin (Boldizar, 1968) the highest gradients are found near the middle where the sediment is thickest, whereas the lowest gradients characterize the margins. Gradients in the North Sea (Evans et al, 1974) range from  $4.0^{\circ}$ C/l00m in the middle of the basin to  $2.6^{\circ}$ C/l00m or less near the British, Norwegian and Netherland coasts.

The reason for this basinward increase in gradients is not readily obvious. Theoretically, the generally higher thermal conductivities of basement rocks tend to give rise to relatively high gradients in the sedimentary cover



overlying basement highs. Conversely, low gradients should be characteristic of thick sedimentary sequences, especially those of relatively low thermal conductivity. However, in the above examples just the reverse is the case.

Three possibilities can be suggested for the observed increase in geothermal gradients. The higher gradients could reflect the lower thermal conductivity of the Tertiary shales which thicken seaward. However, while it is popular to call upon low thermal conductivities to explain high geothermal gradients, other factors may be of greater influence.

The higher gradients might be caused by greater heat flow. Since it is now generally accepted that most of the heat leaving the earth is radiogenic in origin (i.e. the heat generated from the spontaneous decay of uranium, thorium and radiometric potassium in the earth's upper crust), it is possible that radioactive materials buried with the seaward thickening, post-Paleozoic sediments could enhance the heat production and cause greater heat flow. Such materials could include potassium-bearing minerals, including clays (e.g. illites), and organic matter which readily concentrates uranium and thorium.

Evidence that radiogenic heat may increase heat flow in the East Newfoundland Basin is indirect at best. High heat flows in Nova Scotia are associated with the Devonian granites and extensive (early Paleozoic) Meguma slates and quartzites because these rocks have high radioactive heat production (Hyndman et al, 1979). The Meguma sediments inherited their high heat production from the Northwestern African craton from which they were eroded (Schenk, 1971). Since these radioactive Paleozoic rocks are the source for the post-Paleozoic sediments comprising the Scotian Shelf, they may also have imparted their radioactivity as well.

Since the Devonian granites and Proterozoic metasedimentary rocks of mainland Newfoundland, especially eastern Newfoundland, are probably the source for the clastic material which fills the East Newfoundland Basin, it is possible

- 20 -

by analogy to think that these source rocks, if they could be shown to be equally radioactive, are also the origin for any radioactivity that the offshore sediments might contain.

- 21 -

Local increases in heat flow could be caused by piercement salt diapirs. Because salt has a relatively high thermal conductivity, diapirs can act as conduits, conducting heat from the hotter basement to the stratigraphically higher levels of the sedimentary section. Adolphus D-50 and 2K-41 are both drilled near a salt diapir so that the particularly high values in the middle of the Basin may simply be due to their proximity to salt diapirs.

In summary, the basinward increase in geothermal gradients in the East Newfoundland Basin is probably caused by a combination of three factors. Seaward-thickening Tertiary shales have low conductivity and may contain organic matter with a significant uranium and thorium content. Mesozoic clastic sediments form thick sequences and may contain significant amounts of potassiumbearing minerals. Together, these rocks could produce considerable radiogenic heat which could escape only very slowly through the uppermost strata. Salt diapirs, such as at Adolphus D-50 and 2K-41, may locally increase the thermal regime. Only a more detailed study can determine the relative importance of each factor.

#### III. TIME-TEMPERATURE INDEX

- 22 -

#### A. Theory of Lopatin's Model

It has been widely established in recent years that both time and temperature are important factors in the process of oil generation and in the subsequent cracking of oil to methane (Waples, 1980). Lopatin (1971) has developed a method which considers the effects of time and temperature for calculating the thermal maturity of organic material in buried sediments. His mathematical model uses a "time-temperature index" (TTI) as a theoretical measure of maturity of the buried organic material.

The model is based on the generally accepted principle that chemical reaction rates involving organic material will double for every 10°C increase in temperature or with a doubling of exposure time (Dow, 1977; Hood et al, 1975; Lopatin, 1971). In other words, reaction rates vary linearly with time, but exponentially with temperature. It also means that the two factors are inter-changeable: a high temperature acting for a short time can have the same maturation effect as a low temperature acting over a long time. The model, then, consists of determining the total of the maturation effects due to the time and temperature factors.

A maturation value, or TTI, can be calculated if it can be determined how long a particular sediment has occupied a place in each thermal regime to which it has been subjected during its burial. To do this, Lopatin (1971) divided the temperature scale into even  $10^{\circ}$ C intervals and assigned to each a factor,  $r^{n}$ , which reflects the exponential dependence of maturity on temperature. The exponent of this factor was arbitrarily given the value of zero for the temperature interval  $100 - 110^{\circ}$ C (i.e.  $r^{\circ}$ ) and the exponent was increased by one, or decreased by one for every  $10^{\circ}$  interval of higher temperature, or of lower temperature, respectively, in which the sediment was involved (Table 3). Subsequent work by Waples (1980) showed that r, itself, probably has a value of 2, which seems realistic in light of the doubling effect of temperature.

- 23 -

Because there is a linear relationship between maturity and time, Lopatin simply measured the time factor in millions of years. This means that the maturity added in any temperature interval, i, is expressed by the relationship:

$$\triangle$$
 Maturity =  $(\triangle T_i)(r^{n_i})$ 

where  $\Delta T_i$  is the length of time spent by the sediment in the temperature interval, i; and r<sup>n</sup>i is the temperature factor for the i<sup>th</sup> interval. Because maturation effects on the organic material are additive, the total maturity (or TTI) of a given sediment is given by the sum of the maturities acquired in each interval. Thus:

$$TTI = \sum_{nmin}^{nmax} (\Delta T_n) (r^n)$$

where nmax and nmin are the n-values of the highest and lowest temperature intervals encountered (Waples, 1980). Therefore, the calculated values for TTI are derived from a mathematical model which simulates the natural processes acting on buried organic material as it matures.

#### B. Constructing the TTI Model

Using geothermal gradients to construct temperature grids and dated statigraphy to construct burial history curves, Lopatin (1969, 1971), Waples (1980), Issler (1982, 1984), and Cercone (1984) were able to demonstrate that a very good understanding of the maturity of organic material in sedimentary basins is indeed possible. A similar procedure was followed in this study except that small, though conceptually significant changes were made in graphically displaying the historical development of the present geothermal gradient. These changes are explained in more detail in the section dealing with temperature grids. - 24 -

## TABLE 3

Temperature Factors for Different Temperature Intervals

Temperature Interval ( <sup>O</sup> C)	Temperature Factor	Value (where $r = 2$ )
0 - 10	r <b>-</b> 10	0.0009765625
10 - 20	r <sup>-9</sup>	0.001953125
20 - 30	$r^{-8}$	0.00390625
30 - 40	r <sup>-7</sup>	0.0078125
40 - 50	r <sup>-6</sup>	0.015625
50 <b>-</b> 60	r <sup>-5</sup>	0.03125
60 - 70	r <sup>-4</sup>	0.0625
70 - 80	r <sup>-3</sup>	0.125
80 - 90	r <sup>-2</sup>	0.25
90 <del>~</del> 100	r <sup>-1</sup>	0.5
100 - 110	$\mathbf{r}^{O}$	1.0
110 - 120	$\mathbf{r}^{\perp}$	2.0
120 - 130	$\mathbf{r}^2$	4.0
130 - 140	r <sup>3</sup>	8.0
140 - 150	r4	16
150 - 160	r <sup>5</sup>	32
160 - 170	r <sup>6</sup>	64
170 - 180	$\mathbf{r}^7$	128

- 25 -

The steps taken to construct the model are shown in a flow chart (Figure 10). Data was gathered from well log headings, well history reports, published literature, and from Geological Survey of Canada internal reports on lithological, paleontological and geochemical analyses for most wells in the basin. This information provided the basis for generating a temperature grid and a set of burial history curves for each of the wells. The grids and curves were combined on the same graph so that TTI values could be calculated.

### 1. Burial History Curves

A burial history curve represents a graphical record of a single selected grain from the time it is deposited until it is intersected by drilling in the present. The curve indicates the rate at which the grain becomes buried (or uplifted) with the passage of time. All that is required is the depth to specifically dated horizons, usually the top of a biostratigraphic stage. Identification of the stage is made by paleontology, palynology, lithology or a combination of these and other techniques. The specific age of the stage is then established by referring to a recent geologic time scale (e.g. Palmer, 1983).

This age/depth information is the basis for deriving the thickness of each biostratigraphic stage in the well. The depths to specific horizons for which TTI values are desired are then calculated by summing the thicknesses beginning at the horizon chosen and progressing one horizon at a time to the. present surface. An example is shown in Table 4. When these values are plotted on an age-depth graph, the depth chronology (i.e. burial history) for each horizon selected becomes obvious (Figure 11). The end result is a series of sub-parallel curves separated by different, yet consistent, spacings of depth.

It should be noted that gradual compaction of the sediments should affect the shape of the burial history curve. However, this effect has been neglected because it needlessly complicates the construction of the subsidence curves without adding appreciably to the accuracy of the TTI values.



						- 27			GeoTe	ch Sur	vevs L	imited	
		Now	Age 0.00	RT	B.S.F.	Th.	Bottom 3641	J/C 3383	Berr/Val 2296	Haut/Bari	Tur/Con	Eo/Olig	
		Pleist	0.01								1100	110	
	ene	Plio	1.6										
		Mio-L	5-3										
	SCB(	M	77.2			431				*			
	Ne	-E	16.6										
X		0]ig_I.	23.7										
TAF		E.	~~~ 30_0	546	43(		3210	29.52	1865	1595	1535	565	
ERI	e	For-L	36.6	1105	991	565	2645	2387	1300	1030	970	0	
E-1	gen	-M		1425	116	330	2315	2057	970	700	640	U	
	leo	т- т	40°0	כבדיו	1226		215	2051	170	100	010		
	Pa		57 0			160							
		rareo-r	62 6	1-0-	1404		2155	180-	910	EAN	480		
	~	 Moost	66 /	1545	1486		2155	1701	010	240	100		
		Camp	77 F			240							
		Sont	81 0	1835	1776		1915	1657	570	300	240		
	U	Coni	040 07 5	1000	1720		1110	1001	570	200			
S		Thimon	0107 00 E	2075	1011	240	1070	1417	220	60	0		
EOU		Cono		2075	1966		16 (5		350	00	0		4
TAC			91.0 07.5										
CRE		ALDIOII	9760 770			60							ijak
-		Aputan											(BL
	L	Barr	119	017-	2 a a /		1015	17 - 7	270	0			2
		Haut	124	2135	2026	070	615	125/	210	0			bd
		Val	131	2405	1200	210	1740	1007	0				
		Berr	138	2405	2276	1087	1345	1087	0				(es)
	77	Tith	144	3492	3383	258	258	0					Dav
	U	Kimm	152	3750	3641		0						2
		Oxf	156										Pa
		Call	163										4.
SIC	м	Bath	169										
RAS		Baj	176					TA	BLE 4				
nr		Aal	183		Curr	กาวได้ไว้	ve Thia	lmesse	s for	Specifi	ed Hor	n'zons.	
		Toar	187		ou	uura or	VC IIIIC	Hiber	nie R	ng Ng			
	т.	Plien	193					ITDEL		00			
	Ц	Sir	198										
		Hett	204										
	TT	Nor	208										
SIC		Carn	225										
LAS	М	Lad	230										
TR.		Anis	235										
	L	Scyth	240										

.



Corrections for compaction have been discussed by Perrier et al, 1974; Van Hinte, 1978; and Sclater et al, 1980.

- 29 -

#### 2. Temperature Grids

The temperature grid is a graphical record of the changes in the geothermal gradient through geological history. The geothermal gradients developed in the early part of this report are used as a basis for calculating the depths to specific 10<sup>°</sup> intervals of increasing temperature.

Four assumptions have been made.

- 1. Heat flow from the basement is assumed to have been relatively constant throughout the geologic past.
- 2. The <u>slope</u> of each segment of the geothermal gradient is assumed to be some net function of the physical characteristics of the sedimentary strata occurring between the upper and lower depth limits of that segment. This relationship with lithology is assumed to have remained constant throughout the geologic past despite the compaction undergone by the sediments over this time.
- 3. It is assumed that the temperature of the sea floor has always been the same, in this case 0°C.
- 4. The effect of heat from radiogenic material and from mobile fluids is assumed not to be significant.

These assumptions are probably realistic for this level of sophistication in the model. They will probably have to be reconsidered along with other factors not mentioned above (e.g. tectonic age, etc.) if the model is to be developed for greater accuracy.

With these assumptions in mind, two tables are constructed. The first (Table 5) shows depth and temperature data picked from each segment of the geothermal gradient (Figure 12) so that numeric values (in  $^{O}C/100$  m) can be calculated for each of the gradient segments. The time interval through which

				GeoTech Surve	ys Limited
			30 -		
	¢.				
				*	
		TAB	LE )		
	Segme	nt Data of G	eothermal Gradie	ent:	
	<u> </u>	Hibern	ia B-08		
	i -				
Time	Depth	Thickness	Temp, Range	Temp Diff.	Gradient
(шеуе)	(ш)	(ш)	( 0)	( 0)	( 0/100m)
0 - 70	0 - 1560	1560	0 - 47	47	3.01
70 - 142	1560 - 2983	1423	47 - 79.5	32.5	2,28
142 - 152	2983 - 3641	658	79.5 - 100.5	21	3.19
	·				
••		•		•	

.

,

31 0 H 旧出 민민 :::1 14 **H**Hii 151 EEF CH ..... -----81917 HE LEI LE 日田井田 2 ------E-1-1-<u>F</u>FFFFFF 크라크 HE 17 出行 Geothernal Gradient: Hibernia B 08 ΙE 19154 444 1111.1 HI-I-I-I 田田 HEXT **Litter** E HT FF 1000 1 77 1 M I I F N H F I F H F IIIIII 照時 Depth (m, B.S.F.) N H H H H FHUE X HE H 1÷÷ X-----HEHH FILL INE 時間 ::: EFFIL 開口 ittr. ¥ 111 XIIII HHH di den 1.1 訪相早 2000 HIN 開閉 出出 HIE H Π H LLEH ानम FERE Filt 11 HELL τĦΧ H ELETE - HH ELIEE 타귀크로 HHHH 臣臣 副翻 SEHE IIII NT Lit ЦĮ Η 15 3000 X 17 111 Tt THE Fizz L THE T X THE 知時 EIHH 田田 時出去 HENILLI **HEALE** 脯酊 制出 4000 Ň 11 Терр. 出出日日 HF. IIII N 111 111111 中国的旧 阳出日 :1:.. 185 88 1111 N : Hitt ΕH 11111 The second secon <u>estin</u>r **544** ΞŔ 3675 E-1 -분대 **H**itti 15171 i de la Centra de Æ E E HH HEIGE 14148 11111 5000 L. 50 Temperature (°C) -100 150

- 32 -

each segment is relevant is determined from the lithological ages at the upper and lower depth limits of the segment. The burial history curves are helpful in this regard, i.e. imagine that there are horizons at the upper and lower depth values so that the ages (B.P.) at which they were laid down can be read from the graph. These time intervals and their appropriate gradient values are then used to calculate the depth to each successively greater  $10^{\circ}$  geotherm, beginning at the sea floor with  $0^{\circ}C$  (Table 6).

Because each segment of a geothermal gradient (e.g. there are 3 indicated in Figure 12) is assumed to be a function of the lithology (assumption #2), the geothermal gradients in the historical past must change or shift according to the rate and conductivity of the accumulating sediments. This means that, as we regress into the past, the sea-floor environment (i.e.  $0^{\circ}$ C and 0 m depth) would seem to move progressively down the present-day geothermal gradient according to the corresponding age (i.e. depth). The gradient at any time in the past would simply be comprised of those segments appropriate to the underlying lithology for that time.

This shift in the geothermal gradient during sediment accumulation is an important conceptual aspect of the TTI model but was not considered in the graphical presentations of previous workers.

When the depth values for the different gradients (Table 6) are calculated and plotted at their respective ages on Figure 11, isotherms at 10<sup>°</sup> intervals can then be constructed to show how the geothermal gradients have changed through time. The isotherms must be drawn in such a way as to reflect the <u>gradual</u> change in gradient with time. It can be seen from Figure 11 that these isotherms are horizontal while each section (segment) is "built up", but becomes distorted (i.e. slopes up or down) when sediments of a different conductivity are deposited on top. However, the vertical spacings between each isotherm remain constant, reflecting the "burial" of each segment of the gradient.
# - 33 -

# Table 6

# Depth Values of Temperature Grid: Hibernia B-08

Temp.	142 m.y 152	2 m.y.	70 m.y 142	2 m.y.	0 m.y 7	'O m∙y.
(°C)	Temp. Diff. × 100 Grad.	Depth	Temp. Diff. x100 Grad.	Depth	Temp. Diff. x100 Grad.	Depth
0	0	0	0	0	0	0
10	313	313	439	439	332	332
20	313	626	. 439	878	332	664
30 32:5	313	939	439 110	1317 1427	332	996
40 47	313	1252	235	1662	332 233	1328 1561
50	313	1565	313	1975	132	1693
60	313	1878	313	2288	439	2132
70 79,5	313	2191	313	2601	439 417	2571 2988
80	313	2504	313	2914	16	3004
90	313	2817	313	3227	313	3317 .
100	313	3130	313	3540	313	3630
110	313	3443	313	3853	313	3943

• \_\_\_\_

#### C. <u>Calculation of TTI Values</u>

TTI values are easily calculated by combining the appropriate burial history curve and temperature grid for each of the wells (Figure 11). For each horizon drawn on the burial history curve, the "time spent" in each temperature interval is determined and the result multiplied by the appropriate temperature factor to give an interval maturity (ATTI). All interval values are then summed to give the TTI value for that horizon.

- 34 -

The TTI values for most of the important horizons have been calculated and stated in tabular form (see Appendix).

IV. COMPARISON OF TTI VALUES WITH GEOCHEMICAL MEASUREMENTS

Because TTI values have been derived from a mathematical model, they must be correlated with data obtained using other, more direct methods for evaluating the thermal maturity of organic material.

## A. Correlation with Vitrinite Reflectance (R) Data

A wide variety of geochemical measurements have been used to indicate levels of maturity, but vitrinite reflectance data are probably the most reliable. The effects of temperature and cumulative time on particles of kerogen are essentially irreversible so that the measured reflectance is an indication of the maximum rank attained. No other material provides such a direct measure of maturity without being affected by composition (Dow, 1977).

Vitrinite reflectance data for 13 of the 23 wells in the East Newfoundland Basin (e.g. Adolphus D-50, Ben Nevis, Bonnition, Dominion, Egret K-36, Flying Foam, Hebron, Hibernia G-55, K-18, O-35, P-15, Murre, and Nautilus) have been correlated with their corresponding TTI values for the same depth. These data, together with a best-fit correlation line, are displayed graphically in Figure 13. Mathematically, this correlation is expressed by the relationship:

> $\log TTI = 5.570 \log R_{0} + 1.946$ TTI = 88.308 R\_{0}^{5.570}

This compares with:

or:

or:

 $\log TTI = 6.7367 \log R_{0} + 2.7317$ TTI = 539 R\_{0}^{6.7367}

obtained by Issler (1982) for the Scotian Shelf. This curve is "lower" and "steeper" than the one for the East Newfoundland Basin. That is, for any value of R<sub>o</sub>, the TTI values for the Scotian Shelf are higher and increase more rapidly

- 35 -

12-191

1000					
	trade in a select of the selec	an van an antere in ini .	a interest of the second se	ALC: 10 10:000	
	<ul> <li>a prior secondaria de contra de la contra de</li></ul>	·			1 A. 1
	If the star wave analysis are into analytic and manifest and the star and	the same and an art because, a			
	the second	ter meter marter and		a ter pel marris /A	
500	The second se	a. Manar I apaire a un	Aller a construction and and an and an	· • · · ·	
	a contract of the second se				
		and the second	men and a single pay that the final spin of the final spin	. 20	
	and the second s				
	The second se	The advantace of the of	- Ar allower read provides	444 L 10	
	A set of the summary set of the s		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	الاقتليم بعا المتضبط	- +
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
	A Constant in the second se		N. J. Summer Carry and the		
	<ul> <li>If the plant distance has a plant of the second seco</li></ul>				
100					
100				-	
	we determine the second second				
	and succession of the second				
					•
50	the second se		and a second sec	1	
	a and and a set the set				
	a second s				
	a share the state of the state of the			1	
				1	
	An industry and a second	-	A ratio additional diseases		
	an in the second		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
	ng na			•	
			and the second second		
				•	
to	Adde and provide a second seco		The second se		
				•	
	ya wa ti a tanî wa salî a		· · · · · · ·	•  -	
	The sector in the sector is the	· · ·	·	•	
	and the manager of the second of the second of the second		and the second second	•	
=					
5			·		+
	<ul> <li>wigs - 1 copying branches and an appropriate sector and a sector and a</li></ul>	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	Line shere a relation and an and a second state of a	•	
`	A CARDEN AND A CAR	· · · · · · ·			· · · · · · · · · · · ·
	A	an allow the propose	to an increase of the second second second second		der Br. Frucht abstratiff in van entern, absorbaniliger Sale
	All Annual Annua	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	The second secon	• • • • • • • • •	
	1. Conference provide dura con a fiscaria de la conference de la confer		At a the definition water	• • • •	
ĩ	<ul> <li>после фило на бълк и на С. укова, и подето на бълк и селителните на селителните и чистиче се станата на подетока на после на селителните на подетока на подеток На подетока на подеток На подетока на под На подетока на подеток Подетока на подетока на поде на подетока на по</li></ul>	The second second second second			
	an annound a start ann ann an Anna an Anna ann ann an Anna ann ann				•
		tata antis same shappense and			
	the second second later to the second s			-	
	A go control to and the second			1.	
1	a car another second and a second a sec		1 1011 male er sides tip. 11 1 prés musice it Mitte		
				1	•
			and a second sec		and a company or the second
		The second second		• .	
•5	<ul> <li>The state of the s</li></ul>	not manada assess of a		saar walka sujulualka akanakat da	old, assured to the second test reasonable addresses
				-	No. In the second second second
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	an and a second	· · · ·	
	A second se				
	The second secon		The subject of the su		
	and the second s		relate its striker. How		
			-	•	1
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
	A REAL POINT OF A REAL POINT OF A REAL POINT			-	•
•1		-	the state of the second st		
(	ten i till men men av sin sin sin som en men men sin som en s	to the test of the sec	The last of manual and the second		
	a approximation and an area and an area and and a second				and a state of the second
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	- LTGORT		a and an and a second and a second	
		and A Personal submate a	<ul> <li>Advance W.R., Son &amp; A. Andréa M. Son &amp; S. Schledgerer M. Meller</li> <li>M A. M. M. Son &amp; A. M. Mark &amp; S. State &amp; S. Schledgerer M. Meller and S. State &amp; State &amp;</li></ul>		11 1 1 1 1000 1000 10 1 1 1000 1000
		7 - 4	o mmT	and the second sec	
.05	the during the research transmission with the second of the balance of the research and the second of the second o	lation of	I TTI WICH R-		
•05	Corre		()		and the local of succession of the
•05	Corre	a The last dates restants			1
•05	Corre	A file lass des realities			
•05	Corre				
•05	Corre				
•05	Corre				
•05					
•05					
•05					
•05					
•05					
•05					
•05 •01		5			
•05 •01	Correction 1000000000000000000000000000000000000	5			
•05 •01	Correction of the second secon	5		·5	

~~

- 37 -

than those for the East Newfoundland Basin.

Although there are a few data points at a considerable distance from the correlation line, the line is consistently straight and passes through the greatest density of data points over a range of 5 magnitudes TTI.

#### B. Correlation with Other Geochemical Information

An attempt was made to correlate the TTI values against all other available geochemical information, such as the thermal alteration index, fluorescence (both colour and intensity), and carbon preference index. The results of these correlations are discussed below.

<u>Thermal Alteration Index (TAI)</u>: The thermal alteration index is a measurement of the level of maturation based on the colour and intensity of colour for dispersed organic material (Bujak et al, 1977). Because it is rather subjective, the method is not quite as reliable an indicator of maturation as R<sub>o</sub> data (Issler, 1982).

A correlation of TTI values and TAI values at matching depths is shown in Figure 14. (The unusual scale marking the TAI coordinate is the same as that used in the TAI reports from which the data were taken.) Although there is considerable scatter, there is a marked trend of increasing TAI values with TTI values. The relationship can be expressed:

> log TTI = 4.126 TAI - 6.298 TTI = 5.04 x 10<sup>-7</sup> x 13366<sup>TAI</sup>

or:

<u>Fluorescence</u>: The results of fluorescence tests with respect to both colour and intensity were correlated with their corresponding TTI values. A graphic display of colour values is shown in Figure 15 where the spectral colours from blue to red are designated by the numbers from 0 to 9. A correlation with fluorescence intensity is shown in Figure 16 where intensities increase from 0 to 5.



. - 38 - ,



· - 39 -



Fluorescence: Intensity

GeoTech Surveys Limited -

The correlation with respect to colour shows a broad trend of increasing TTI values as fluorescence colour changes from blue to red. No particular trends are shown with fluorescence intensity.

- 41 -

<u>Carbon Preference Index (CPI)</u>: It is generally accepted that CPI values decrease with increasing thermal maturity. That is, CPI values for immature samples tend to range from low to very high, but among the more mature samples, very high values do not occur (Waples, 1980). Although only a few CPI values were available for wells in the East Newfoundland Basin (e.g. Cormorant, Egret K-36, Murre), their correlation with corresponding TTI values seems to bear this out (Figure 17).

#### C. Correlation with Depth, and with Temperature

Although both depth and temperature are integral factors in the calculation of TTI values, it may be useful to correlate each with its appropriate TTI value. Figure 18 shows a correlation of depth with the logarithm of corresponding TTI values. The resulting best-fit curve is linear which can be expressed by the relationship:

#### $\log TTI = 0.0006945 \text{ Depth} - 1.36601$

A nominal TTI value can then be calculated or deduced graphically for any given depth, or vice versa.

From this, it appears that the top of the oil window (i.e. where  $R_0 = 0.5$  or TTI = 2.0) would occur nominally at 2400 metres. Similarly, the peak of oil generation (i.e. where  $R_0 = 0.8$  or TTI = 25) would occur nominally at 4000 metres. Note that here we are using generally accepted values of  $R_0$  (Dow, 1977).

A similar correlation with temperature is shown in Figure 19. Again, the resulting curve is linear, and can be expressed by the relationship:

log TTI = 0.0289248 Temperature - 1.6585391







From this equation, a nominal TTI value can be calculated (or deduced graphically from the curve) for any given temperature, and vice versa.

- 45 -

#### V. ORGANIC MATURATION

- 46 -

Calibrated TTI values obtained by application of Lopatin's model can be useful for indicating where organic maturation has occurred. Dow (1977) suggests that the onset of oil generation should begin at about  $R_0 = 0.5$ , reach a peak at about  $R_0 = 0.8$ , and end at about  $R_0 = 1.2$ . The TTI equivalent values for each of these as derived in this study (see Figure 13) are 2, 25 and 240 respectively (Table 7). The TTI values of similar stages in other areas such as the Scotian Shelf (Issler, 1982, 1984) and worldwide (Waples, 1980) are included in Table 7.

### A. Establishing the "Oil Window"

The relative timing of the development of the "oil window" in any given well can be established by calculating the age at which the TTI values for each horizon reach 2, 25 and 240 respectively. When equivalent values for beginning, peak and end of oil generation are plotted on a diagram showing burial history curves and a temperature grid, the area covered indicates the zone (time and source rock) which could have the potential for generating oil, i.e. have adequate physical conditions. The Nautilus C-92 well is used as an illustration in Figure 20.

#### B. Establishing the "Oil Kitchen"

Using data calculated in a similar manner from all 23 wells, the depth to the "oil kitchen" can be established. These depths have been plotted on a map of the area and contoured to show the changes in depth to the top of the "oil kitchen" (Figure 21). There were insufficient data to construct maps at other levels (i.e. at peak and end depths).

------ GeoTech Surveys Limited ---

- 47 -

# TABLE 7

# TTI Equivalents for the "Oil Window"

<u>R Val</u>	ues		TTI Values	
		East Nfld. Basin (This study)	World Wide (Waples, 1980)	Scotian Shelf (Issler, 1982)
Begin:	0.5	2	3	5
Peak:	0.8	25	34	120
End:	1.2	240	123	1300





- 50 -

#### VI. HYDROCARBON GENERATION MODEL

### A. Outline of the Model

A hydrocarbon generation model has been devised for the East Newfoundland Basin based on five major parameters.

1. Observed hydrocarbon occurrences

2. Quantity of organic material

3. Quality (type) of organic material

4. Maturation

5. Geology

All available information pertinent to each of these parameters and related to the generation of hydrocarbons has been collected and summarized in tabular form (Table 8). This table forms the basis of the following comments.

#### 1. Observed Hydrocarbon Occurrences

Observed hydrocarbon occurrences serve as the major criterion for selecting those horizons for which related information was sought. Most occurrences are listed in either the Offshore Schedule of Wells or in company well history reports.

Except for one occurrence in the Upper Cretaceous (i.e. Adolphus 2K-41), all hydrocarbon discoveries are located in the Lower Cretaceous or Upper Jurassic. There are as well, minor stains and shows in the Tertiary (i.e. Adolphus 2K-41) and Lower Jurassic (Spoonbill, Cormorant).

Measurable hydrocarbons have been discovered in the Lower Cretaceous in at least seven wells (Table 8). Drill stem tests indicate that oil flows range between 41.5 and 592 m<sup>3</sup>/d, and gas flows range between 3500 and

									•									Geo	Te	ch	Sur	vey	sL	imi	ted -
_												-	51 ·	-	•										
		Geology			Sh(13) E.P.	Sh(Is) Eac.	Sist(sh) Chy	Sh, sist Ecc.	sh Ecc.	Sh(sist) Euc	Shisist Euc	Clyst, sh Eve	clyst Clig	Ecc.						7					4
-	Ion	111		-	115-6.0	+1-25.		0420	3-120	3.4-75.	1.4	143-62		1							11 <del>1</del>				
	turat	TAI			1-2-11	(17)-2	1*(2*)	1 (2-)	+ _	+	+ /	~~		+ 1					•		-				
	Ma	Ro	(%) (%)		3.1	4256	1	ļ	·30 34	30-15.	:53	4-55-	!	(		L	•			1	:				
	nic Matter	ty	C Type		0	E C	C. E.	CE	C II	C F	0 II 0	0	10 1	717 52											
		Quali	AHW		50 30 10	55 35 C	55 45 0	15 25 0	55 35 O	50 45 5	01 07 ac	10 1:5 5	0 77- 20	10 40 25	nip a al kasar										
	Orga	Quantity	TOC (%)		20-3.0 6	4.0-4.3 6	4.0-5.0	9.0-5-0	3:5-5.0 6	2:5-3:0	3.4	30-5.0	2.2	5.4			,								
TABLE	rances		מכצ	1					2				:		•	*				ana mananana a	2			÷	
	bon Occur	Gas	(p/٤ ч)		san tin agan agan gan a na an			2		i										- - - -					
	Hydrocar	011	(p/₅ m)				cil stains.	ul stains		:							una ante func		a to a statistication						
	Depth	Interval	m (RT)		1250-2700	1-150 -2140	1135-1234	1965-1960	1139-1261	1875 - 3134	2615	1-480-1446	341	204					of the data and the formulation that is a set of the set	a deglezar dan danstega betagan comban a	1		, i		ŗ
	0	Hge	Well Name	TERTIARY	Adolphus D-50		Pulphus 2k-41		Bennition	Demutum	der statistication of the	Flying Feams	Murre	jh Vá				i					a de la compañía de la		-

												-	52	-	•											
		Geology	5		51'10	Sh	Clyst.			SIST, red b. sult	Su, sh (sist coul	Sist	Se (clyst, could	5157 (ss. sh)	Sist ss (is)	Ss (sh, m/st)	S., (sh, ls)	Si (sist is and	(1sls) ; S	(/s/s/y) = 5	S= (s/st)	<u>V</u> .	5, (sist)	Sist, 55	5, (54, 515, 15)	5. sh
	tion	111		5 	n a - (-)	12.0	549			0.4.0	-76-50	70	Nr. 37.	25.	パンーちい	51:-55.	3.0-3:1	2.3-5.0	2-52-1	1.15-4.2	E. 2-24.	ارد ک	5.31-71	5.12	7.0.30	1-7-14
	tura	TAI		(-c/j., (		2"-2	1+			2	;	1 1	/ ·t		1+	!	(freedom)	2	.1		53	2	2	e) (	a manufi y	Propaga 194
	Ma	R,	$\begin{pmatrix} q_{2} \end{pmatrix}$	(	,	~	ļ				340	50	:35	1	いようくい	オーフト・	1.3 - 17/2	[	+1	15-120	1+-++1	6.5	2.0	0.42	67- 7%	Theory of
	er		Type	ţ:	11	711	Ħ			II		11	ĪŢ	a systematic - a may store	III	I		<u>III</u>	1	ł		)]]	11	11		
	latt	lity	C V	:	2	5 25	0	;		2 20		5 10	0 5		0			S lis				10 30	C 20	0, 20		
	2 C	Qua	N H		2	25 3	40 10		1	30 4	1	40 1:	356	,	F 5t-			404	•			30 4	704	+ 7+		
	anı		A (		5.5	51	5.5			10		12	0		10			C				Ċ	S	0		
¢	Org	Quantity	TOC (%	:	NAME AND A DESCRIPTION OF A DESCRIPTION OF	すい		,	and a set of the set o	ic m		2.5	6.4-20.1	4.5	3.0-5.0		. ,			7 8 8		1.0	0.3-0.7	1.0		
TABLE	rances		פטא		667				1		1024			-		32-36	の「めっ	122-3423		106-162	621-83	67	112-721		0-164	
	rbon Occui	Gas	(p/ɛ ⑾)	r !	J. C.	, 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 10	and the statement of the	, , ,		- no watage agin and a a a	Erace - 293			1		3:5-43	0-30.3	57,5-306		25.2-43.2	17.5-62.3	12.4	52+3 - 125	guessy wither	0-152	
	Hydroca	01	(p/ɛm)	. E.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				:		stain-41.5	;		- man page - a tria m p	3	110-121	Shew-354	284-03.	il stams	205-574	64-494	185	343-592		shew-418	itain
	Denth	Interval	m (RT)		4601 - 4641	FULT	6231 - 1823			2877	2378-4340	1114	1750-1850	1460	2343 - 2960	7161-6611	2722-2986	2646-3221	2461, 3319	2202-3217	2055-2776	2422-2443	3142-3256	3272-3705	10.06-2026	2770-2550
	<	Hge	Well Name	U, CRETACECUS	Here shoud opp	9 - 7 - 400-9 - 100 March 100 March 100-9 - 400 - 9	HILVENIA B-08	:	L. CRETACEOUS	Adolphus 2K-41	RUN NEVIS	Bunntion	Egret K-36	Eqret N-46	Flying Feam	Helten		HILErnia B-08	HIGERNIA G-55	Hibernia K-18	HIGERNIA U-35	HIDERALG P-15	a sur cross a sur o sur cross a subtraction theorem		Wautile ;	Hest Flying Found

Γ

# - GeoTech Surveys Limited -

												-	53												
		Geology			Sh si	Ss, (sh, ceal)	Ls (sh, s, wed)	Sh (ss, slstered	Ls, 52 (5h, 26 al)	Ss, slst, sh	Sistst sheel	Ss (sist ccal)	Sis (s/st, 5h)	52 (12)	56		S,	-		De la lanh, sall	L = ( - ( c) c)	5.12 (che he)	1	Red 3h (sult)	
	fion	111			61-65	13-32	5-1-2		6.8. 8.3	1.6.13.5	1	1-5:01	01-6-3	18-75	40		1 4	)		1.3-2.1		132-251		75-77.	
	tura	TAI			1		(1+)2	1	1-2-	1+2		12	Name a	23	ļ		2			1	1+(2-)	1-10		1	
	Ma	R,	(%) (%)		5/2	10100	Rs.	-	91-51.	517-515.	1.25-1.5	(	5757.	211.	ļ	, i	•		di i n	J	~~~	ļ			
	er		Type				12	î	17	<u>III</u>		<u>III</u>	,	III	ĪŢ	1	111		7	131	5	国			
	natt.	ality	C M				01 0		15 15	50 20		40 10		7/ 25	16 32		45 20		-	40 10	20 15			25 25	
	1 210	QUe	H A				15 - 46	i	5 25	0-10		U 50	1	C to	й. С		ر ، ، ، اربر س۲			0 70	29 5	5.2.		5 25	
∞	Orgai	Quantity	TOC (%) /	:			5.0-8.0-	1.5-5.0	410-510 4	3.0-4.01	1.0-4.3		4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4	1.0-2-2 0	1.6	Į ,	5.0			12-0-2:0	5,0 1		•i,	3.3 - 3.7	
TABLE	rrances		מכצ		the second	133.7			-	1	99 -245	167-1133	1246-352	61-101		:	r		a de las a	1					
	rbon Occu	Gas	(p/ɛ ɯ)		ana ana ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang	340	sing. fins				0-9016	64-515	43-143	0-12.8		•	-								
	Hydroca	011	(p/ɛm)			254	- 10 - 40 - 40 - 4	o-trace	1	1	1.35-0	386-577	130 - 731	show-127	, <sup>*</sup> *				1	STUDS.		i Mani			
	Denth	Interval	m (RT)		4426-1438	1535-4550	2550 -2700	1652-2320	3258-3518	34-14-3618	38.12-4381	3485-3715	3735-3854	4113-4142	1185	weeks a same mining of the second second	2705			1232-2552	1001	1204-1933		1530,2580	
	C	Нде	Well Name	U. JURASSIC	Ben Nevis		Egret K-36	Eq. = t N-46	Flying Fearn		Hebron	Hibernia B-68	Hibernia K-18	Hibernia P-15	Murre		Skua	and the second	L. JURASSIC	Lormerant	Midnardi	nine		TRIASSIC Secondall	

Γ

- GeoTech Surveys Limited ---

293,000 m<sup>3</sup>/d. Gas to oil ratios (GOR) calculated from these values, range between 32 and 7024.

- 54 -

Similarly, measurable hydrocarbons have been discovered in the Upper Jurassic in five wells (Table 8). Drill stem tests indicate that oil flows range up to 731 m<sup>3</sup>/d and gas flows range up to 515,000 m<sup>3</sup>/d. Gas to oil ratios for these measurements range between 89 and 1337. It should be noted that the highest GOR in the Lower Cretaceous (i.e. 7024) and the highest GOR in the Upper Jurassic (i.e. 1337) occur in the same well, Ben Nevis.

Notwithstanding the high gas values in both the Lower Cretaceous and the Upper Jurassic, the East Newfoundland Basin is undoubtedly oil prone.

## 2. Quantity of Organic Material

The amount of organic carbon is commonly used as a simple and direct measure of the capability of the source rock for generating hydrocarbons. Although a commonly accepted minimum organic carbon content for a potential source rock is 0.5%, values of one per cent or more are usually necessary for viable source rocks.

Total organic carbon (TOC) as a percentage of rock weight is indicated in Table 8 together with its respective depth interval. This information is available from corporate well history reports and a detailed study of ditch cuttings gas ( $C_1 - C_4$  analysis) (Hardy and Jackson, 1980). TOC values range up to 5.0 wt. % in many places, even over considerable sections; some are as high as 8 wt. % (Upper Jurassic) and 20 wt. % (Lower Cretaceous).

## 3. Quality of Organic Material

The type of organic material trapped in buried sediments depends on the depositional environment (i.e. marine, terrestrial, lacustrine) and, in turn, greatly influences the hydrocarbon source potential (or yield) and the nature

GeoTech Surveys Limited -

(i.e. oil, gas, condensate) and timing of the hydrocarbon products (Powell and Snowdon, 1983). When organic material becomes buried, it matures by undergoing diagenesis (or catagenesis) and produces kerogen which is the raw material for generating oil and gas. Geochemical analyses of kerogen can provide accurate C, H, O, and N contents from which H/C and O/C ratios can establish the type of organic matter (Figure 22). Because kerogen Types I, II, III, and IV have different initial hydrogen contents and therefore different chemical structures, their maturation thresholds are different as is the nature of the hydrocarbon products. This is summarized graphically in Figure 23. The hydrocarbon potential or yield from each type will also be different (Figure 24).

- 55 -

The organic matter from many of the wells used in this study has been examined by optical microscope, and identified according to a botanical classification as amorphous, herbaceous, woody, or coaly (Burgess, 1974). This scheme, while useful for palynological dating, does not consider the wide ranging chemical and structural differences inherent in the various kinds of kerogen. For example, kerogen commonly identified as being amorphous can have a wide range in hydrogen content (Powell et al, 1982). Nevertheless, there appears to be sufficient similarities between the kinds of organic materials grouped in the 4-fold botanical classification and those classified into the four Types (i.e. I, II, III, and IV) that, for this study, reasonable conclusions can be made about the depositional environment (Table 9).

The composition of the organic matter is stated in percentages of amorphous, herbaceous, woody or coaly fragments in the total organic mix (Table 8). From this and other information, it was then possible to classify the organic matter as to which Type was predominant in the sample.

In general, the organic matter from Tertiary sediments is dominantly amorphous with most of the remainder being herbaceous (Table 8). This is relatively analogous to Type II material which indicates a marine source for the





— GeoTech Surveys Limited —

- 58 -

		SAPROPELI	с	ни	MIC		
KEROGEN (by transmitted light)	Algal	Amorphous	Herbaceous	Woody	Coaly (Inertinite)		
COAL MACERALS		Liptinite (Exini	te)	Vitrinite	Inertinite		
(by reflected light)	Alginite	Amorphous	Sporinite Cutinite Resinite	Telinite Collinite	Fusinite Micrinite Sclerotinite		
KEROGEN (by evolutionary pathway)	Тур	es I, II	Туре II	Type III	Туре III		
H/C O/C	1.7- 0.1-	-0.3 -0.02	1.4–0.3 0.2–0.02	1.0-0.3 0.4-0.02	0.45-0.3 0.3-0.02		
ORGANIC	Mar lacu	ine and strine	Terrestrial	Terrestrial	Terrestrial and recycled		
FOSSIL FUELS	Prec Oil s and	lominately oil shales, boghead cannel coals	Oil and gas	Predominately gas Humic coals	No oil, trace of gas		

## TABLE 9

# Classification of Organic Matter in Sedimentary Rocks (After Hunt, 1979)

GeoTech Surveys Limited -

material (Powell and Snowdon, 1983). Similar inferrences and results were drawn from the quality of organic matter found in the Upper Cretaceous.

- 59 -

The organic matter from Lower Cretaceous sediments is approximately evenly divided between herbaceous and woody particles with only minor amounts of amorphous and coaly material (Table 8). These are the characteristics of Type III which would suggest a dominantly terrestrial source (Powell and Snowdon, 1983). A few analyses of organic matter from the Middle Jurassic, Lower Jurassic and Triassic indicate similar environments.

Both Type II and Type III organic material is indicated by analyses of different strata in the Upper Jurassic. This suggests that marine and nonmarine influences alternately dominated the paleoenvironment during the period. It may be that during the Jurassic this area alternated between being wholly marine and wholly non-marine (i.e. terrestrial). However, it seems more likely that the depositional environment was more or less marine, but that it was close enough to the continental margin to receive periodic influxes of dominantly terrestrial material.

## 4. Maturation

Maturation of organic material in buried sediments can be measured by a variety of techniques, such as vitrinite reflectance in oil ( $%R_0$ ), thermal alteration index (TAI), and time-temperature index (TTI). Because maturation is essentially a measure of the duration and amount of heating, other factors such as age, depth, and temperature can individually give only a partial and perhaps misleading measure of maturation.

All available information on  $R_0$ , TAI, and TTI is shown appropriately in Table 8. Vitrinite reflectance values range between 0.30 and 0.63 in the Tertiary, 0.30 and 0.69 in the Lower Cretaceous, and between 0.50 and 1.5 in the Upper Jurassic. Thermal alteration indices range between 1 and 2<sup>-</sup> in the

GeoTech Surveys Limited -

Tertiary, 1<sup>+</sup> and 2 in the Upper Cretaceous, 1<sup>+</sup> and 3<sup>-</sup> in the Lower Cretaceous and between 1<sup>+</sup> and 2<sup>-</sup> in the Upper Jurassic. Time-temperature indices range between 0.16 and 6.0 in the Tertiary, 0.49 and 12 in the Upper Cretaceous, 0.4 and 50 in the Lower Cretaceous and between 0.4 and 81 in the Upper Jurassic.

- 60 -

Each of these series of values shows a progressive increase in their range with increasing age. This is particularly evident in the sequence of values stated for the upper end of each range. In general,  $R_0$  and TTI values appear to be more sensitive and more useful as a gauge of maturation.

## 5. Geology

Some indication of the lithology has been shown where possible (Table 8). This information has been taken mainly from interpretations by Canadian Stratigraphic Services Ltd.

In general, the zones with favourable geochemical information in the Tertiary are composed of shales, with minor siltstone and limestone. Similarly, the Lower Cretaceous is mainly sandstone, with minor siltstone and shale. There are also a few coal seams and, in the lower parts, the section has been penetrated by at least one salt diapir (at Adolphus 2K-41). Sandstones with a few limestone beds dominate the Upper Jurassic; coal seams are almost always present with some siltstones and shale. Salt overlain by anhydrite and dolomite occur in the lowermost Jurassic (e.g. at Spoonbill and Cormorant).

#### B. Source of Hydrocarbons

There is considerable evidence that Upper Jurassic rocks have been the major source of all the hydrocarbons discovered to date in both Upper Jurassic and Lower Cretaceous reservoirs.

1. The Lower Cretaceous lies immediately above the Upper Jurassic.

2. The flow rates for oil and gas in the Lower Cretaceous are very similar to those in the Upper Jurassic.

3. Some of the highest flow rates in the Lower Cretaceous occur in horizons which have R values indicating immature sediments.

- 61 -

- 4. Most of the R values for the Lower Cretaceous are less than 0.5, which is generally considered to be the minimum necessary to form oil.
- 5. TOC values in Upper Jurassic strata have a higher range than that for Upper Cretaceous strata.
- 6. The Lower Cretaceous contains dominantly Type III organic matter indicating terrigenous material and therefore a gas prone hydrocarbon potential which is in contrast to the relatively low GOR values for the Lower Cretaceous. The Upper Jurassic, on the other hand, contains significant amounts of Type II organic matter, that which has the highest potential for generating oil.
- 7. In at least six wells the top of the overpressure zone coincides with the Verrill Canyon shales at the top of the Upper Jurassic. These shales probably act as an impermeable barrier to any upward migrating hydrocarbons. Nevertheless, significant hydrocarbons have found conduits and leaked upwards into the Lower Cretaceous.
- 8. Powell (1984) determined the composition of gasoline-range compounds in Lower Cretaceous hydrocarbons of Hebron, Ben Nevis, South Tempest, Adolphus D-50, 2K-41, and Hibernia K-18, 0-35, and P-15 wells to ascertain their maturity. Because the maturity of these hydrocarbons was considerably higher than the maturity of the reservoir rocks, he concluded that the hydrocarbon fluids had migrated from more mature source rocks.
- 9. From RockEval analyses of organic-rich intervals in Hibernia P-15, 0-35, and K-18, Powell (1984) showed that the kerogen from Upper Jurassic rocks gave higher yields than that from Lower Cretaceous rocks.

#### C. Timing of Hydrocarbon Generation

Because of the great thickness of Lower Cretaceous rocks in the depocentre of the Basin, oil generation in the Upper Jurassic could have started here as early as late Cretaceous. The potential for loss of hydrocarbons from the Basin during the period of the Avalon unconformity is therefore considerable (Powell, 1984). However, if an  $R_0$  of 0.5%, or the equivalent TTI of 2.0, is accepted as a minimum value for the generation of cil, maturation calculations of this study indicate that no part of the Upper Jurassic drilled to date was mature enough to have generated oil before the beginning of the Tertiary. Further, the oil currently in reservoirs beneath the Avalon unconformity shows no evidence of extensive biodegradation (Powell, 1984). It is therefore concluded that loss of hydrocarbons during the period of the Avalon unconformity was negligible.

- 62 -

#### D. Summary

The generation of hydrocarbon products in the East Newfoundland Basin can be summarized by the following statements.

1. The occurrence of oil and gas is confined almost entirely to the rocks of the Lower Cretaceous and Upper Jurassic, both having good reservoir characteristics. The Lower Cretaceous is generally a light-brown sandstone with minor siltstone and shale. Organic material trapped in these rocks is Type III indicative of terrigenous sources and is at best only marginally mature. The oil and gas occurs most commonly in the uppermost sandstone beds lying beneath a section of shale or, in a few places, limestone. The Upper Jurassic is mainly a light-gray sandstone and colitic limestone with some siltstone, shale and coal. Type II and Type III organic matter, indicative of both marine and non-marine sources, has a maturity within the generally accepted oil window of  $R_{\rm o} = 0.5$  to 1.3%. 2. The Upper Jurassic is the source rock for the hydrocarbons which now occur in both the Upper Jurassic and Lower Cretaceous reservoirs. These hydrocarbons have migrated to the Upper Cretaceous since the beginning of the Tertiary.

- 63 -

- 3. Although considerable organic matter occurs in the Tertiary, especially in the Eocene, only minor stains have been discovered. Measured vitrinite reflectances on organic matter trapped in these sediments (mainly shales) indicate that it is too immature for hydrocarbon generation.
- 4. In two wells (Spoonbill and Cormorant) oil and gas shows occur associated with salt beds in Lower Jurassic rocks where the oil may be indigenous. Significant recovery of oil occurred from a drill stem test in the Upper Cretaceous of the Adolphus 2K-4l well. This occurrence may be a result of leakage from nearby source rocks (i.e. Upper Jurassic) during the fissuring and fracturing commonly developed around piercement salt diapirs.

#### VII. IMPLICATIONS FOR FUTURE EXPLORATION

- 64 -

- 1. Because no part of the Upper Jurassic drilled to date was mature enough to have generated hydrocarbons before the beginning of the Tertiary, any post-Mesozoic structures, therefore, become entirely available for trapping hydrocarbons subsequently generated in the Basin.
- 2. Although the Tertiary rocks contain considerable marine (i.e. Type II) organic material, they are not mature enough in the study area to generate significant oil or gas. However, these rocks thicken to the north and northeast so it may have been possible for some of the deeper parts to have reached sufficient maturity to generate some hydrocarbons. Unfort-unately, the Tertiary here is dominantly shale which does not make a good reservoir rock.
- 3. Similarly, some hydrocarbons may have been generated in some of the deeper Lower Cretaceous rocks. These indigenous hydrocarbons would probably be gas because of the predominantly Type III organic material in these rocks.

## VIII. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

A hydrocarbon generation model has been devised for the East Newfoundland Basin in offshore eastern Canada. The model is based on correlations of observed hydrocarbon occurrences, quantity and type of organic material, degree of organic maturity and geology. A synthesis of the data indicates that copious quantities of hydrocarbons have been generated in Upper Jurassic sediments since the beginning of the Tertiary, and that significant amounts of these fluids have since migrated into the overlying Lower Cretaceous. The Tertiary rocks, while they contain significant amounts of Type II (i.e. marine) organic material, are shales and claystones with little potential as a petroleum reservoir. The low maturity of the kerogen in these rocks may, however, give way to more profound catagenesis towards the northeast where the Tertiary sediments thicken and become deeper. A few salt diapirs in the Basin have local hydrocarbon accumulations.

The following suggestions or recommendations are made concerning aspects of this study.

- 1. The Lopatin method yields a good estimate of the present organic maturity and, along with vitrinite reflectance measurements, forms an important part of the hydrocarbon generation model. However, results from the method would be much more realistic if the influence of compaction, periodic uplift and varying heat flow could be more accurately determined.
- Greater diligence in recording times and temperatures during logging runs would provide a more accurate and complete basis for calculating geothermal gradients and temperature grids.
- 3. Because it is becoming increasingly evident that the type of organic material greatly influences the yield, timing and nature of the hydro-

- 65 -

carbons generated, a more thorough and detailed analysis of the kerogen is required. Some of this might be done in conjunction with vitrinite reflectance measurements. (TAI values were not particularly useful for this study.)

- 66 -

- 4. Much more confidence is needed in the biostratigraphic age determinations carried out on each well. For example, determinations of depth to a given horizon made by different workers on material from the same well often vary as much as 1500 to 2000 m, and differences of 1000 m are common. These discrepencies presented the greatest difficulty in using the TTI method for assessing maturity.
- 5. Because the East Newfoundland Basin covers a relatively large area with rather sparse information (few wells), it may be worthwhile to construct a similar hydrocarbon generation model for the Hibernia field alone. Well density is considerably greater than for the Basin as a whole and the proven economic potential has heightened interest in this particular area. Such a study would have closer controls on each factor involved and might provide results having both academic and economic benefit.

#### IX. REFERENCES

- Arthur, K. R., Cole, D. R., Henderson, G. G. L., and Kushnir, D. W., 1982, Geology of the Hibernia discovery, <u>in</u> The Deliberate Search For the Subtle trap, Halbou, M. T. (ed.): A.A.P.G. Mem. 32, pp. 181-196.
- Benteau, R. I., and Sheppard, M. G., 1982, Hibernia a petrophysical and geological review: J. Can. Pet. Tech., v. 22, no. 3, pp. 59-72.
- Boldizsar, T., 1968, Geothermal data from the Vienna Basin: J. Geophy. Res., v. 73, no. 2, pp. 613-618.
- Brooks, J., 1981, Organic maturation of sedimentary organic matter and petroleum exploration — a review, <u>in</u> Organic Maturation Studies and Fossil Fuel Exploration, J. Brooks, ed., Academic press, pp. 1-37.
- Bujak, J. P., Barss, M. S., and Williams, G. L., 1977a, Offshore East Canada's organic type and color and hydrocarbon potential, Part I: Oil and Gas J., v. 75, pp. 198-202.
- Bujak, J. P., Barss, M. S., and Williams, G. L., 1977b, Organic type and color.
  and hydrocarbon potential, Part II: Oil and Gas J., v. 75, no. 15, pp. 96
  Burgess, J. D., 1974, Microscopic examination of kerogen in petroleum explora-

tion: Geol. Soc. Am., Spec. Paper 153, pp. 19-30.

- Cercone, K. R., 1984, Thermal history of Michigan Basin: A.A.P.G. Bull., v. 68, no. 2, pp. 130-136.
- Dow, W. G., 1977, Kerogen studies and geological interpretations: J. Geochem. Expl., v. 7, pp. 79-99.

Dowdle, W. L., and Cobb, W. M., 1975, Static formation temperature from well logs --- an empirical method: J. Pet. Tech., Nov., pp. 1326-1330.

Evans, T. R., and Coleman, N. C., 1974, North Sea geothermal gradients: Nature, v. 247, pp. 28-30.

GeoTech Surveys Limited

Fertl, W. H., 1978, How subsurface temperature affects formation evaluation: Oil and Gas J., July, pp. 54-62.

- 68 - 1

- Fertl, W. H., and Wichmann, P. A., 1977, How to determine static BHT from well log data: World Oil, Jan, pp. 105-106.
- Hardy, I. A., and Jackson, A. E., 1980, A compilation of geochemical data: east coast exploratory wells: G.S.C., O.F.R. 694.
- Hood, A., Gutjahr, C. C. M., and Heacock, R. L., 1975, Organic metamorphism and the generation of petroleum: A.A.P.G. Bull, v. 59, pp. 986-996.
- Hunt, J. M., 1979, Petroleum Geochemistry and Geology, W. H. Freeman and Co., Publ., 617 p.
- Hyndman, R. D., Jessop, A. M., Judge, A. S., and Rankin, D. S., 1979, Heat flow in the Maritime Provinces of Canada: Can. J. Earth Sci., v. 16, pp. 1154-1165.
- Issler, D. R., 1982, Calculation of organic maturation levels from downhole temperatures/burial history curves, Scotian Shelf: B.Sc. thesis, Univ. of Waterloo, 129 p.
- Issler, D. R., 1984, Calculation of organic maturation levels for offshore
   eastern Canada -- implications for general application of Lopatin's method:
   Can. J. Earth Sci., v. 21, pp. 477-488.
- Jones, F. W., and Lam, H. L., 1979, An investigation of geothermal energy resources of Alberta: Alberta/Canada Energy Resources Research Fund Contract U-8 (Jones), 12-month report, 69 p.
- Lopatin, N. V., 1969, Principle phase of crude oil formation (in Russian): Akad. Nauk SSSR Izv., Ser. Geol. 34, no. 5, pp. 69-77.

Lopatin, N. V., 1971, Temperature and geologic time as factors in coalification (in Russian): Akad. Nauk SSSR Izv., Ser. Geol., no. 3, pp. 95-106.

Palmer, A. R., 1983, The decade of North American geology: 1983 geologic time scale: Geology, v. 11, pp. 503-504.

. .
Perrier, R., and Quiblier, J., 1974, Thickness changes in sedimentary layers
during compaction history: Methods for quantitative evaluation: A.A.P.G.,
v. 58, no. 3, pp. 507-520.

- 69 -

- Powell, T. G., 1982, Petroleum geochemistry of the Verrill Canyon Formation: A source for Scotian Shelf hydrocarbons: Bull. Can. Pet. Geol., v. 30, no. 2, pp. 167-179.
- Powell, T. G., 1984, Hydrocarbon-source relationships Jeanne D'Arc and Avalon Basins, offshore Newfoundland: (pre-print), 14 p.
- Powell, T. G., 1984, Paleogeographic implications for the distribution of Upper Jurassic source beds: offshore eastern Canada: (pre-print), 7 p.
- Powell, T. G., Creany, S., and Snowdon, L. R., 1982, Limitations of use of petrographic techniques for identification of petroleum source rocks: A.A.P.G., Bull. v. 66, no. 4, pp. 430-435.
- Powell, T. G., and Snowdon, L. R., 1983, A composite hydrocarbon generation model Erdol und Kohle - Erdgas - Petrochemie, v. 36, no. 4, pp. 163-170.
- Procter, R. M., Taylor, G. C., and Wade, J. A., 1984, Oil and Gas Resources of Canada, 1983: G.S.C. Paper 83-31, 59 p.
- Schenk, P. E., 1971, Southeastern Atlantic Canada, northwestern Africa and continental drift: Can. J. Earth Sci., v. 8, pp. 1218 -1251.
- Sclater, J. G., and Christie, P. A. F., 1980, Continental stretching: An explanation of the Post-Mid-Cretaceous subsidence of the central North Sea Basin: J. Geophy. Res., v. 85, pp. 3711-3739.
- Tissot, B. P., and Welte, D. H., 1978, Petroleum Formation and Occurrence, Springer-Verlag Publ., 538 p.
- Van Hinte, J. E., 1978, Geohistory analysis: Application of micropaleontology in exploration geology: A.A.P.G. Bull., v. 62, no. 2, pp. 201-222.
- Waples, D. W., 1980, Time and temperature in petroleum formation: application of Lopatin's method to petroleum exploration: A.A.P.G. Bull., V. 64, pp. 916-926.

- 70 -

# X. APPENDIX

## A. Procedure for Deriving Geothermal Gradients

The geothermal gradient can be defined as the change in temperature of the earth with increasing depth, and is usually expressed in degrees per unit depth. Geothermal gradients were derived for 23 wells in the East Newfoundland Basin. Corrected bottomhole temperatures (BHT) plotted against depth provided the information for the calculations.

#### 1. Collection of Data

All information and data required for establishing the temperaturedepth curve at each well was obtained from the various well log headings for each log run. There were as many an 37 different kinds of logs used in this study with up to 10 of these available for any one well. The following data was used:

<u>Date of Log</u>: The date may vary as much as several days due to the time required to log the hole.

<u>Elevation of Rotary Table</u>: The rotary table or kelly bushing is the datum used for recording depth measurements on the log headings. Because it sits about 30 m or so above mean sea level (MSL), this information is necessary for future calculations of depth.

<u>Water Depth</u>: The depth of water at the well site must be known to calculate the exact location of the sea floor relative to the rotary table. <u>Depth (to Temperature Measurement</u>): "First Reading" or "Bottom Log Interval" is the depth at which the logging run began and therefore the approximate location of the deepest (and presumably the hottest) temperature measurement. <u>Temperature</u>: The most reliable temperature is "Temp. Max." (Maximum

GeoTech Surveys Limited -

Recorded Temperature). Unfortunately, this value has been recorded in only about half the wells. The BHT (Bottomhole Temperature) recorded in the "Remarks" or the BHT recorded for the "Rm" (Resistivity of the mud) was used where no other temperature information was available. In many cases, however, these values were found to be very unreliable.

- 71 -

<u>Time Drilling Stopped</u>: Although reported on only about half of the log headings, this information is vitally important if the temperature corrections are to be calculated to derive static (i.e. equilibrium) temperatures.

<u>Time Circulation Stopped</u>: This information is reported on most log headings.

<u>Time of Temperature Measurement</u>: This information is reported as "Tool on Bottom" or "Tool Last on Bottom".

<u>Time Since Circulation</u>: The time interval between ceasation of circulation and the temperature measurement is reported in about a third of the wells. Unfortunately, many of these values, when they are reported, are not in agreement with those calculated from the previous two pieces of information.

## 2. Depth Corrections

The sea floor (SF) was used as the datum for all depth caluclations in this study. Since all log depths are measured from the platform at the rotary table, it was therefore necessary to correct the measured depth (MD) for the elevation of the rotary table (RT) or kelly bushing (KB) and the water depth (WD). Thus: Depth from sea floor (SF) = MD - RT - WD If the values were not already in the metric system, they were converted.

# 3. <u>Temperature Corrections</u>

Obtaining realistic temperatures was relatively more difficult than depth determinations. The main problem is caused by the fact that circulating drilling muds tend to disrupt (i.e. lower) the local thermal regime at the bottom of the well. If circulation were to stop, however, the temperature should return to some value not too different from the original or static value given enough time. Unfortunately, this could be a long time ---- unrealistically so for the drilling operator.

- 72 -

It is possible, however, to apply a correction to the measured value (usually the maximum temperature for that depth of drilling) to approximate the static temperature. Two related methods have been used to calculate the corrections.

a. <u>By CT Projection</u>: The most accurate correction depends on the availability of the circulation times (CT). The approach is theoretically sound and has been discussed and used by others (Dowdle and Cobb, 1975; Evans and Coleman, 1974; Fertl, 1978; Fertl and Wichmann, 1977; Jones and Lam, 1979; and Issler, 1982, 1984).

To use such a correction, we must know how long the muds were circulated and how long circulation was shut down before the temperature measurements were made. Specifically, it is necessary to know the exact times when drilling stopped (DS), when circulation stopped (CS) and when temperature measurement began (TOB or TLB). From these values, it is easy to calculate circulation time (CT):

CT = CS - DS (in hours)

and time since circulation (TSC):

TSC = TLB - CS (in hours)

If we let  $CT = t_9$  and  $TSC = \triangle t_9$  then the relationship  $\triangle t/\triangle t-t$  should tend to unity when  $\triangle t$  (i.e. the time since circulation) is infinitely long.

It is then possible to plot  $\Delta t/\Delta t$ -t against the corresponding measured temperature (preferrably Temp. Max., otherwise BHT) on semi-logarithmic paper. Usually the points for any given depth fall on a reasonably straight line. When projected to unity, the line will give a value which theoretically should be the static temperature. At least two data points are required, but three or more create greater confidence in the projected line and value.

- 73 -

b. <u>By TSC Projection</u>: A second method of calculating the temperature correction has been devised for this report because the data needed to calculate the circulation times were reported for only 8 of the 23 wells. For the other wells to be used in this study, it was necessary to develop some relationship which would give at least approximate static temperatures in the absence of circulation times. After trying several approaches, it was found that, by substituting TSC values (calculated or reported) for the relation  $\Delta t/\Delta t$ -t and again plotting the corresponding measured temperatures on semi-logarithmic paper, the data points produce reasonably straight lines. When these lines were projected to TSC = 50 hours, the temperatures were very close to those derived by the CT projection.

To test the validity of this empirical approach, the data from the 8 wells for which there were circulation times reported was plotted using both methods. A correlation of the static temperatures derived by the two methods showed that 85% of the values fell within  $\pm 6\%$  of the temperature of a 1:1 correlation (Figure Al). It was therefore assumed that static temperatures derived by the TSC projection for the remaining 16 wells are reasonable approximations of those which would have been derived by the CT projection had the circulation times been known.

- 74 -

B. Geothermal Gradients (Graphs)

1. Gradients for Individual Wells

2. Gradients for Groups of Wells

C. TTI Values for Specified Horizons in Each Well

•														-	75 -	-															
°N						H1 - 77	101-2			: <sup>1</sup> . 1						-			; : : :		1					::::::	.1-1-, 1			•	: -
	1							: EX .					1.21	1.11	7					1111			14.1		1	1					
112	/		i										***							11.00			1 - m i - l - l		t	1				1	
-		$\setminus$																				111		1.11		1.1.1.1					
					<u>;;; ;</u>	*****				1112														<b>D</b>	ro.	1		1111			
		$\sim$																		AC	101	pni	18	1)	20						
1		No.																	-	1-1		1								. • T	-
	-		X =					111	12							22															
1	• •						1						;		• • •				. ,	1	111.	111				1111					
				k i i i				111	****	::.			. • • : ]	÷				1,11		1111			1 [				1,.1				
				$\overline{\mathbf{x}}$								, . 	Ţ						· · · ·					-							
											111																				
					X																										
	1.:::	1.4612				X				<u>.</u>						Ξi				+11	111		·								
-						X					=																				
																								::-1				t 1"			1
	17312					274 7.07	$\mathbf{X}$							1									TITI		TT -	1.57					-
									. 1			111													1						
-				1				1												11.5							+				
					:: i	11: 11			XII			; * ; ]	1111										1111								
									-/	+				****		EF		-		E			Ŧ					11.7			
		11. 11							111	$\mathbf{X}$				Lill				1111			ЦЦ										
0									114		ζ					titi				μĽ											1
					EF			IT	TH		$\mathbb{N}$					ΠĮ				TH:			Th								
								1117	E	HE	111	1																		1	
						+1244	1124			1211			N.I.I.I						::::	111						111	<u>,</u>				
							-						-/							-11-											
11										1			<b></b>					1111				1251									
							1 +++++								<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>																
1.1										:1:1			11.1		1	-					1.11										
								1	<u>tili</u>	11.11	11		1111	<u></u>	E.N.	j.d			444		144	<u>ti ti </u>			11111	1111		1171 			
								HE	14							X				1					E						
1							T			1.							X			ĒE	197				TE		H-	1755	F		H
	· · · · · · · · · · · ·				====							115			-			12-77		EL.			TG-							-	-
00	11112						1311		TTT-				1117	, . L.				NT:		<b>[]</b> -1			EFF	1111	1417				rtr;		
	-						1 10 11			h e								X													
										h									×	1111					 						1:1
					===														7-						++++			1 1			
<u> </u>								†						.; <u>1</u> ! ±			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		- 7	++			111:1		11.11	trit.				· · · ·	
					17			10,1												۱.									1:1,1		
					11 -			11 1 1 1 11 1 1 1 11 1 1 1 1 11 1 1 1 11 1 1 1 11 1 1 11 1 111 1 11 1 11 11	:Hij			:	1111		Hill	14 14	HELL	LT11	×	LN.		T		1111		I E E					
																-	1. H				<u></u>										1::
		•											•								E.						-1-				
																										::-					
							1						1115	1.1.1.1					E 1.	1. 			1.11	1.1	1		12-1				E
00-				1								1112											· \		1		1		1.7.6.7	12.5	
				1				. 171	12.1																				E		
																					1			× -	11111				1		1
	`·						the patro of																	<u> </u>	····		1		11217		
-	• .	· · · · ·		1.11		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			·: :							-		· · · · ·			11.71			1.71.7					1		
	1							·		'	•				-						<u></u>						1	1		: .:  	:
													1			=									1				1. T		
	:												÷		1000 0° 1 1000-0 0°00-			-	1		ļ		1 5 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0	1			$\langle \cdot \rangle$	:: .			
		· .	E								•					-															
																			1			1		1	1.1.		1.1.	ESE,			
												11	1	* * *** *						1	1111						1				E
							Access of the	A					1		4		a sector in the		distant and a	A 10000											

1000     1000       3000     1000       3000     1000       3000     1000       3000     1000       3000     1000       3000     1000       3000     1000       3000     1000       3000     1000	0	<pre></pre>	1		1 - 117			111111111					min	112,000.00	1	1:11:1:	112.201222		
200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200																		<u> </u>	
100         100 <td></td>																			
$rac{1}{100}$		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·								•	rel rel	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		F.					
$s_{00}$				1										-					
2000 1000			<u> </u>		. : []	•								400	Inhus	7.K-/	1		
200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200		- 11 -				,		· · · · · · · · ·					· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Ado	Inhus	28-1			
200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200				·										nac.	102:000	~ 7			
<sup>1</sup> <sup>1</sup> <sup>1</sup> <sup>1</sup> <sup>1</sup> <sup>1</sup> <sup>1</sup> <sup>1</sup>	i	-								1									
2000 200 2000 2				$\sim$						n et l'ar									
2000 200 2000 2			: 	$\sim$		2667						÷		11	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •				
$s_{mo} \rightarrow s_{mo} \rightarrow s$																			
$r_{r}$	1000				$\overline{\mathbf{A}}$	1 = 1 = 1 = 1 = 1			11.11.	11711,11									
$r_{\rm reg}$	$\widehat{\dots}$				• ו ×					-									<u> </u>
$\frac{1}{100} + \frac{1}{100} + \frac{1}$	S.F				X					E	10.000 1.000 1.000				b - 1		,		
$s_{\text{regeneration}} = \frac{1}{1 + 1} + \frac{1}{1$	A		· · · ·					1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1						1					
3  for  1  for	۲	· · · ·	· .*			$\lambda$													
$\frac{1}{100}$	0																		
$s_{000}$	tt		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		• • • • • • • • • • •			1.1217											
$S_{00}$	e			1															
$s_{00}$	A						N-												
$\frac{1}{200}$							X	L I I I I I							THEFT				
$2^{coo}$	V							$\mathbf{N}$											
$2000 \qquad \qquad$								N.			Sligh	H. 1641							
3000	2000							$\langle \cdot \rangle$											
2000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 100		1																	
2000 4000 						::::: ,;!:													
$s_{oo} = \frac{1}{100} + \frac{1}{10$									X										
3000 4000 										$\overline{\langle}$									
$3000$ $4000$ $5000$ $T_{emp}e^{50}$ $T_{emp}e^{50}$ $T_{emp}e^{50}$ $T_{emp}e^{50}$ $T_{emp}e^{50}$ $T_{emp}e^{50}$ $T_{emp}e^{50}$ $T_{emp}e^{50}$ $T_{emp}e^{50}$																			
$3000 \qquad \qquad$										-	×								
3000 $1000$ $1000$ $1000$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$											$\mathbb{N}$			E-111.E		11111111			
$3000$ $4000$ $5000$ $Temperature (°C) \rightarrow 100$ $100$ $100$											*				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
3000												X							· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
3000 $1000$ $1000$ $1000$ $1000$ $1000$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$							TIT.												
$\frac{1000}{1000} = \frac{500}{100} = \frac{500}{100} = \frac{500}{100} = \frac{500}{100} = \frac{100}{100} $	-																		
1000	3000	1			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·								-	517212				101-pt 6 - 011 10 - 01   0 - 1 - 1 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1	1
1000																			
$s_{100}$													× •						
3000														<u>, 11</u> , <u></u>					
$\frac{1000}{100}$		111																	
$\frac{1000}{1000} = \frac{100}{100} $																			
$\frac{1000}{100} = \frac{100}{100} =$					<b>FUER</b>														
1000 $1000$ $1000$ $1000$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $150$												111111111		+					
$\frac{1000}{100} = \frac{100}{100} =$								1.1	T										
$\frac{1000}{1}$							1	1 ha 9 4 4 4						1					
$\frac{1000}{5000} = \frac{100}{100} = \frac{100}{150}$							· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			And the state of the second			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
$\frac{1}{1}$	4000			<u>,</u>				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					1						
$\frac{1}{5000} - \frac{100}{150}$		· · · · ·						<u></u>		111101			7.11.27						
$\frac{1}{5000} - \frac{100}{100} + \frac{100}{150}$													17.47						
$\frac{5000}{0} - \frac{500}{100} + \frac{500}{100} + \frac{100}{150} + \frac$				1 1				1.1.1.1.				1	12.417.1	1 F F			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		11110
$\frac{5000}{0} - \frac{500}{\text{Temperature (°C)}} \rightarrow \frac{100}{100} + \frac{150}{150}$						· · · ·													
$\frac{1}{5000} \frac{1}{00} \frac{1}{150}$					1 .1",														
$\frac{1}{5000} - \frac{50}{\text{Temperature (°C)}} \rightarrow \frac{100}{100} + \frac{150}{150}$																			
$\frac{5000}{0} - \frac{50}{\text{Temperature (°C)}} \rightarrow \frac{100}{100} + \frac{150}{150}$			i				tri arrei	a' ; '					1	· · · · · · · · · ·	·[·:-:				
$\frac{1}{5000} - \frac{50}{Temperature (°C)} \rightarrow \frac{100}{100} + \frac{150}{150}$				i se se s															
$\frac{5000}{0} - \frac{50}{\text{Temperature (°C)}} \rightarrow \frac{100}{100} + \frac{150}{150}$						1.1.1													
$\frac{5000}{0} \xrightarrow{50} \text{Temperature (°C)} \xrightarrow{100} 150$						1	1					- 1-1		1.1-11.		1			
$\frac{5000}{\text{Temperature (°C)}} \xrightarrow{100} 150$			1											1111111					
Temperature (°C) ->	5000							1.1 8					1				50		
		0			Te	empe	ratu	rel	°C) —	$\rightarrow$	10					1.	90		

- 76 -

0																<u></u>									······							
		:															-					170								E.F		
	1										, i - 1				1122				1				1211				··· ··· ·					
		1				: :::					1211						1.1.1		in Fr			1.,.	- + +				1	1::::		11221		
		-\																						**** *** h ***						1		
			\								1								7.71.	-								11.55	1111			
			$\cdot$					20		· · · · · · · · · ·												Be	'n	Nevi	s I	-4	5					<u>.</u>
																		-		1 											:	1
		-	- \			·					1.1				11111		1111	1111		::::	::::				1				1			1
	• • • • •		<u></u>	X.										,			-															
				1											6					1 11										1		
						<u>1997</u>																				1774						
ſ																117		F.11		: HI			- 1- -		1	51 F.		17211	1			
000				1										1.1					····								1.					
21			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			1.1																					1.,					
	· :	: 11		0		$\langle \cdot \rangle$	-		1					1	1,		1.112					1111	- , .						·	<u> :::</u> :		
n	• • • • • •		11.1	1.3		1	$\langle \cdot \cdot  $												1													
r i							X								1					1727			1111					<del></del>	:			
5	• •	÷						<u>.</u>							1::-1			4 6 4 100 			:1:1					:::.	11	1		1. •.		
5 1								$\setminus$	_									· · · · · ·		· · · · · · · ·												
d'														155	1			ΞĘ.		1777					====				1		1	
Ĵ,				ir.			2		X					1 41		Hti	1214			TH				1711					11			
1					: 12.7				:::	X				1			En	11.		1:17			171;			11-1						
			:	1		•••			:::	$\overline{\mathbf{X}}$		1111			11:22.		1.1.1.1		1111	1:::		1111	1				1	I CLL!		1		112
¥										$\sim$			11 11111 							C												
000		• :		-					-								1.5									,						
						991												::::														
																		÷i:										Hi.			1111	
		.:						1.1.1.1				X					144	1111		1111						1	111			1:14		1.444
					1						1 - 1 - 1		X				1	TT.				+++++						1.7		L.C.C.		
		. : : :							14 -		11.71	1.27	$\lambda$								1111	1		i - 1				1	1			
										portite:			N.					1									1.1.1		199	12:12		ſΞ
																5	=															
																4:1-	1.72	1														
										****							1		1													
						::::		Real P									1			1241									1	1		
									· · · ·																							111
	. : :													1						14.00							112					
3000	. 1	1.11		1		_====								1	I		1						1					1	1:11			1
				1										1										· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·								
												Anger 10.1						1		141							-					1
	11													2		1				E.												LI E
									122					+		ΗE					EĒ						1			977		
	1111	1.												-	X	1		E.	FILE		1			1777-1777		117	1:	1				11-7
					1									-	X			-1 - 1 - 3	1111													1
		: · ·			h:::		· · · · · · ·						1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	-	11111				11:12	1		1					172					1
		1711	:-:·!.::	1.1.1.4		• • • •			512								X	in,	Trr:	4.1.	HE	<u>1111</u>	5,11									
																	1		177		÷	H.										
		:::					115	11-11			Trill	151		- 15		1	17,17	1		1	1111							1111				
		: <u>;</u>				• .										1			X	5173	1777	1171		11,11,11,1			1	171.51				
4000		· .											1.1.1.1			i			1										1	1 1		1111
							57.5				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·						R H	1:1:1		1					. ii.t		:1,-		1			111
	:	· · ·	· . 		1	• • •						:						En					1			1.1			11			1
				1		: : .	117				E (										<u> </u>						1					
		i.												-	-				En		$\langle \cdot \rangle$							1	1	1::	1	
	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +							,			1 1			1			+ • •		<u>E</u>		1					1			1:25	1	1:	
					:.:														E:::			1	2.23		-			<u>+::</u>	1	15.		
		• • •			•							<u>.</u>																	1:12	:		
	1.			17		[+]+]						1.11				1.15	n		11.5				$\langle \cdot \rangle$		1			1.1.				
								· · · ·	<u>.</u> :		1			-	1	1:	1111.		E.	-	1					1	+	1:17	1			
				:			;- ;			1.1.1				1	1.11		47				1.527			N			1	1	1			1
			· · ;				:										<u></u>						7123	<u> </u>		1		1		<u>1::::</u>	1	
	۰.		• `:.	1			· · · ·												ę.e.					$\sim$		TIE '			1:			
5000										~							10															

Temperature (°C) - $\rightarrow$ 

PLEASE NOTE: P. 78 is not missing. Stappears to be non-existent and may very well an error in the mumbering of pages. VEUILLEZ NOTER: P. 78 ne manque pas. Il semblerait que as soit une erreur dans le numérotoge des pages.

0	N		-1		t : -	1																						
	$\left  \right\rangle$				: Fr	12011	11000						1111						18.9E			1166	115		Erei	11111	1	1
	$  \rangle$	1-11 E.C.			*******		11 1. 1.	1.7.2			::::::	133	1722.	111,11				11111				* * * * * *	1	- #		+++++	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	
					******	1		1 1 4/4	· · · · · · · · ·						1.11		1112	1		1		11.522				15.41	1.1	115
								1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1	BH,	문부분	7 F.	194			http				i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	h in ht	H H	HHH	111	中田		HI!!	1:1-1	1.
ji. S		X in it				1	1.							1	417		1: 01	11:11	11221111				1					+
		1			<u>+   + - + - + - + - + - + - + - + - + - </u>			1						1	1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.		1. 1:1:						5.11			;-, :	::::	
					11.12		11 2416							1117					Bonr	ui ti oi	пH	-32	1999	1993	111-	E.F.		1
1		$ \cdots\rangle$			1121								; :;	1	<u>ne</u>	1111			1.71.1			11111	1	1212:				1
					+			· ·						1.1.1				<u> 1 2. L</u>	1.111.1				1::::			1:::-	1	1
				5100	:19-1			55																72,1		FB		
			IX II									1																$\left\{\cdot \right\}^{\prime}$
			1:									<u> </u>		1. 1		:::1::		: : : :					1	1211		1 H.		1.1
			1	er je ei	1.11							-				-147		128					1		:::		1	117
	. , .		1.1.11.	X:1:		1111-1						1:						-								1 - <u>1 - 1</u>		1
1000			111111	<u> </u>	1.1.1.1	1.21.21	<u>.:   -:   .  </u>				. 1:					:::::						155	115	1999	E		1.17	100
$\sim$				=	-										記書	<u>er du</u>	2123						1			1.55		1:0
LL	. A seed of book of a s		Erst F		1	[11   11 r			* * f= * }-s - ;												<u>  </u>					j =		
S.					1	<u>, ; ~ 1.   ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; </u>		1						1	111	1.2							122	描云	110	655		122
ġ					$\mathbb{Z}$			110.1		88					En la	98 F	n in	122		EFT	THE	-1117	171	1::::		i conti	1.00	1173
-					T													· · · · · · · ·					1	+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +			1	1
<u>د</u>			1.1212	<u> </u>	4.07 (12)	<u>X</u>			::::i.:				,								7		ΞΞ	1337	lafan Linit	1.11	1	1
-						$\langle \cdot \rangle$			144		123		, ,					188					1111	1	. : : *			
ty :			1111111		1.1.1						· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1																1
e -	<u> </u>		1211211		17771	<u> </u>		1.4.9		:+:	::::::	1::::											1	EE	[Here]	fillen	1.57	1.11
A						X	Shiil I		出日							111	115			i Hilli	1111					Hitt		
	-						Kiit	1411			1.11	t E		12.1									+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	1	<del>:</del>	<u> </u>		++++
							- <u>X</u> -				• 1	1	1111	227.2			11 1.11			e Tel El			,			-		1
ΨI							N				:Hith						11	150	旧曲					144	5 F.		i:.:	
								χ		<u>e</u> lin		E									1 21.7		HE:		1111			1
2000	111111	<u> </u>			1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	1 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4			1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		1 127.12	11.51		71.1.1 				120	1-1-1-1		a Hi		<u>ti ti</u>	tite	1142		1	1
-							HT.			비면	1011												IT I		11311			
				-1.171		HHHH	1-1-1-1-		X	H		1114					3 101									11.71		h
ŀ			1 i · · · · · · · ·	1918   192   19 197   197   197   197	1	****							1111			11111				1 1111 111	<u>t 1.: t</u> :	11112	1111	1	****			4:00
						.12221		ŦE	En	白色	FH									1.17.1.1						日里		117
	1999 H I I I			44 M T	1777			1.57		1: -::			1===		<b>T</b>		: Her	111			1	1	trr:					1 2 44
h		· · · · · · · · · · · ·	1		- + + + + + + + - + - + + - + - + + - + + - + + - + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +					- 1		· · · · · · · ·		1					111111		thrit.	. <u>t.</u>	<u>⊨</u>	12222	1133		====	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
							- The second	田		-		1			H.	388					-					Fir		
		A			1157	HILF	THEFT	T: FT		F: 1	¥==::			1				F.:.	lana an	:   r:								
H			• + ; • • • ; ···		1	**************************************		1													1					, I - Li		
		1			E.E.T.			리라		11 H				+ +							Fitt	-Fris	HI F	E.	362	HE I	FTE A	H.
					12111								1222				- H	t-it										
-				*** * ***				*				X	,					+		1,444,644					121			1
-		· · · · · · · · · ·	EE H	브님티		Hill				· · · · · · · · ·		- 1			111		121		EE 11				ji He		1-14	<u></u>		
			1.51		Fil ===							::::¥	1					2772										
3000H			- 5		1						1-1-1		-7				<u> </u>	1				11.27			311		: <u></u> ,	
				-		* 1.* * * * * *	1 HHF											1	<u></u>	i per la compañía de	E E E E				1221	<u></u>		
6												1111		1411				12: Et					+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +					
-  -												11111	111	<u>i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i </u>		#1111	1211					11:12	1111					. 271-
-				10111										E			1 1 1 1 1	1111	EBR			FE E			1111	111	11:1	H
E				72 1215	17721				n 11. i 11.		11							175-7				1			,			
-																11111	-	1.1.1 27	liticiti și	uniziziri:	1	11:11	Lift.t	- i i i i		1111	1	.,:::
				ELL	(EEE)				17111														iiiii		积值		응락	H
				100	Line:						1111	T			<u>i</u> th	<u>i lii</u>	, <u>111</u>	ΠĦ		inter.			11.11					
ŀ				<u>}</u>					114 []] +++1										1,111,111		put:		1:11		<u></u>	<u></u>	<u></u>	
E			1117-							-		TTE L					悟日			EHE		H I	1.55					
:					Hiti					1		1471					N		1	1 47 44	1		till	tti				
-			****				1		1		111-1	1111							- 1.1	1	1		ititi	<u>    </u>	<u></u>		<u>14   1</u>	
																	145		1810		ਿ	1.13					530	
	· • • • •						127411		***		FT.C.					Fritte	1	×.,	1.77		1111	11-11		Erri			1	
1000								· · · · · · · · · · · ·								1 ::1.1 11). 		- X										
														211		НHF		-17	X			nr. i	ΠĒĪ					
		:, ''						-27	he he i													r., r					===	
-						*******					+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	- 1-4-7 4-1 - 1-4-1 -				-++												
			11111			1.1.571	11111	171		H H H H							128		= 1X		1			nd i	EĦ		::::::	· · · · · ·
			1.1.1			-							12						:,:: ; zn!									111
-	÷			<u></u>	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	<u> </u>	1					· • 11		1						N 1825	1:7:1		<u></u>			<u></u>		
			-			1.11-1					1.1	1 m 1 - m 1	e E	2.712						VI							: }	1
		1.1.1.1					1			1.			- 7.2							IN.	1-11	PE.	The second se				πÞ	
-		<u> </u>		-1		<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>	+****			+	<u></u>		.:1:			<u>- 23 S1</u>	11111		<u></u>		pairt		<u></u>	<u></u>		::::	<u></u>	. : : :
			1.1					•				·	:- :						;		X.						ile b	
			· · · · ·		;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;	in the second	11111	1		-					1						1						<u></u>	
<u> </u>							+										1			[ <u></u> ];		,   :	<u>    </u>	<u></u>	<u></u>	÷÷ŀ	.1111	
						1.11				1.7	11 I	. 196							ار در ایشون در مسجوع در سر ربیم در سر			V.L						
-							1::::1:			1		1 of 2 and -			1.4.				1. hann \$ 4 years		1							
-			1111	241 224		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					1. 274	11111		2.22.2		، د تب ال همه	i de an an Ander Al an C		**************************************	free ers e se e se	1 * · · · ·	··· • • • •			1.00			

- 79 -

¢

					<u> </u>													Corr	oran	5 N-8	3				
																		Corr	oran	5 N-8	3				
																		Corn	oran	; N-8	3				
																		Corn	oran	; N-8	3				
																		Corn	oran	; N-8	3				
																		Corn	oran	5 N-8	3				
																						-			
																A			*** * *						
													HE								a Brade referenced				
											1 1 1	1									TITL	::::			1
												**** -					:: ::				1				
								11.		is dimen															
											- 4F				t in the set		5-6		1		1				
							* * * * * *	1171			-		171		tri]		17 .F	-			112-1				
							-	-										1							
						1		1		1111			1								1	<u></u>		1711	1
						11/13							1.1												
				1. p. m 1 .	presentation of	X					100										1			-	
										1 printe pre											1				
			n bernen b		Here		X-		별걸				EHT.				1				ET	1111			
							1												日日日		ttri				
					11.11		1411	XII	ni.li			1111	11111				1411	11411		1.11.1.1		14:1		1;:	111
								X		11111			+- +-					F1 .11.		1,					
			11.5			FIF			5								T-F								1:===
	11.12112	HEFE	1	Ŧ			11757		$\langle \rangle$		-	11-11	111				HE.					<b>H</b>	西日日日	1111	
. t																			E						11
				<u> </u>		1166		::::		1									10210011		1111				11,11
		••••																							1111
				,		:: :::			EUC	1		111 111					11		Thilde		T.L.	1111		11, 11	L.F
																		1.1 1 1 pourt 1			1 +++ ++ 1	1		++++	
· :			-	1																1015171	1171	tttr	ururit;t		
													-				ŦŦŦ					1111			
							11111			; ] ; ] ::	1.1	11:55	1::::	1111				111111	1111 1111		Intil	111:1	1111		1111
,	1 1			-1.1			144		1	1144	11:-		1									1111			1
1										1: •	1												199118		1111
- 11						19111		111					1.1.1.1	911		1	LLE	8.24					1		
			-				· • • • • • • • •				-	•							* * * * * * * * * * * *			1			1
			1					-1	tart :			X	1.17						milmi	1911 E Bonder	1::::		111.1212	11111	1
			-				11111					Χ					-								
:						3			11.51		:	:; I, ::X	:::::					ri tarr		1					
													X							·····					
· · · .								-	1171	T		11.11		F: 12			11					FEE		-	111
			-				1	<u> </u>	111	r: EF	i., [_i.	11 E F 1	ЦЦЕ,				ΞL								
		11111										11/11.17	1	1.5	1214/271	-	1.1			117111111	1.1711		1	: :::::	1:1:2
		12-172						1.11												FEREN	1	<u>11</u>	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
		1-1911			terita	;;;,-/E			-												1.11		17771722		
							112221	1111																	
			1 2.223					Hit.					1	1.1.1			11				17.1		1 11 11	:	1:
	· · ·										88		1			1							4000		1994
						7		1111		11111				11.1		X			114 144	124	1514	141	1999	-	17.7*
					y=h=1=1 =				1		H-1 1:		1						11111			: ::	111111	1 - 1	
	1 100						1	<u> </u>	r		E	17				1	X		11:11:1	1127. 111.	414-			-	1117
υĒ	:					E H	101	177	<b>1</b>	. Tiffi	HR	<b>H</b> EE					ΠL								
	21		1. 1.1.	1				1		rijit."	1:1:1			14		- T-:	1211	χ:[tr	E the	1	1.52	1111	1974111		1
<u>.</u>					121				,					1			-								1
								TL	1			- [		-					1.11						1.
, l.				115-34	200	.: / ::			÷+						in					HHH				1	1
		1										1 1 2 2 2 2											1.1		1
		1:					11.									1127711			N			:			1
:																						111		1 1 1	
;								1.					1	= -	1	1		151	E N		1.1.1			: ::::	1.
· · · · ·																		• • • • • • • • •						-	1::::
:											::   : •		::::						1	No.				1	1
		ii.;					1	1	1.1.								-				1	1111		11	1
													-		······································			to proved as y horn		N	F			-	1111.

on

0 ..... 144444 an hu : i rit. Huii ---------..... ----0-23 Dominion 11.11 H. H. H. . 1 ..... T=++;; ..... 111 11141 ЕЩ H: | H: --------------1000 Ente ו Depth (m, B.S.F.) ..... i i i finite 100 ----------ili. -----1112 THE . -**H**III ŦŦ 11111 1.1111 111.111 1.19 111-1-1-1 111 ..... (THE 111 Ψ. Ý  $|\cdot||$ . . . . . . . . 2000 2027 **H**]**H** FIE -----EHE ---- $X \vdash$ THE Hitt X HIT I T tiene :th En FEL XIII. F. H ..... -----117 × -----17. | <del>1</del> ..... = X----------. . 11 ΥË 3000 ------ 3 ÷Пе TT:S HE HE 11:4:1:7 HI. +.... 12LIF X ..... --- X ---THE PL -----N 111 f (2.) 11 12242 . . 1.111 ----<u>a p</u> -----.... X 4000 ..... ..... FIF(1.7 T. ----------11111 · · · • • · · · • • 1.... ----.... ...... . EP: .....X. 12 123 ..... 11 1111 -----472 - 11 EF FRI - 11 ..... 11111 : 1: 50000 50 Temperature (°C) — 100 150  $\rightarrow$ 

- 81 -

- 82 -0 ..... 144. J. H -111111 -----ttr.E i Her L.T. Egret K-36 1:1:--11.1 THE > 11.12 50 ii i ..... 1111-11 ..... 144 -11112 ----. . . . . . . . . . ..... 1000 Depth (m, B.S.F.) ----ta atela TH 111111 Ŧ -----EFF: -1112 111 111111 -----11. ¥ 1111 **\**. ..... 1 ..... 1.... 3 | F 2000 FE H -0<u>0</u>, 빌 1.1 1.1. 1...... -----------井무 E. -----바님 3000 -----E -----N. ..... -----++------111111 -1E.E +1111 11 ----111 ..... 120 irri: 1103 X 4000 <u>.</u> - 11 1 ..... 7.1. HHE 11. ----. .... ..... 5. L.C. --------------..... -----. 41 . 7 u liir 333 11 E., · ··· · · · · · · · · · . ...... -----The -1:1:::: ..... : ::: 7-N. ..... ..... ..... inter in the second ÷ 5000 0 50 Temperature (°C) -100 150 ≻

0 11111 THE HEAT 1:11 ----E. Frie ---------211112 -----:111-1F 11-12-1 ..... ••••• :=:(); ----------Egrat N-46 EEE ....... ..... -> Ŀì. n. E.1.F. .-----174 1000 Depth (m, B.S.F.) \_\_\_\_\_ -----Fig E . . . . . ----T FI HHH -----. 1.-1. V itr: ----2000 ХШ H. 11 :7: ----------7 ----Hipp riti II-٠X 787 ----Flat 1.1111 L'HNHH UHU 1.11 ..... ĒF 3000 iiFlit F. - 11) 1111 ..... \_\_\_\_\_ Ń H. 1112 SEL ---------1111 ---------..... X -----ttp: 111.111.... -- -----X HT. ----Ert. 4000 1.... ...... X FE. 날림문 56153 1.11 E-H------..... ..... E.7. - N . . . . -----9  $\mathbf{v}$ -----ны Е. -----..... \*\*\*\* N-- -and a set of the property of t 50000 50 Temperature (°C) -> 150 100

- 83 -

- 84 -0 ..... ----110 ------5. F. tin Hat 11111111 212 121 (144) HIFE HELLI uli--------Hilfi Elfer: 1 ----E lette ----t t 1.1.1. Flying Foam I-13 HHH .... · · · · · · :::L::: ----1 ...... - -..... ----------111 1000 ..... -----Depth (m, B.S.F.) 112 12 2 bi ha <u>F</u>LEE HT. 1.... ..... ...... 111 THE L ±;;  $\langle \rangle$ 1.11 en el HT. 師時 F1.-1:1 ¥ TITH T FITT ÷ :: 2000 iłł HE HE ī. 715 × <u>H</u> <u>HUL</u> ŧE.; THE H Ħ FFF hi i hi HI: -----1 ----\====== -----3000 ITT -----TET! HT-Ħ <u> Viiiii</u>ii ----ШĒ -----HTTF FF -----X ------x. EL ..... 1..... ÿ 1997 HHE HE N ΞÌ T Y linii: . 4000 .... H Ζ-----..... ------ \ 40 H leede. -1:.: \*\*\* 1,-1,122 ..... ...... ----1.1.2 SHEH -----1.11-2 .......... X -----리바 ------------------------------1111 and and a second second second second <u>-----</u> 7 50000 50 Temperature (°C) -150 100 ⇒

- 85 -0 11.p.fi ----. . . . . . . . 1 -----1 EE Hele ----E FE Ę. . H 1 Hereiter ELECT: -----ET.E. 1111 · · · · · · · · · Hebron 13 41111 1:1 ..... 111 ..... -1000 ΠÌ Depth (m, B.S.F.) X .... 17 101111-1 1 ---------:::: . ... = :4; : : : 11 Fill: ¥ HEF 1.11.71 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ..... 2000 Ŧ ------17 T.T 111 TTT 1111 i i i i i i i Ŧi : ..... 1211 111 E E E E 1 Little X ----111 -X IEEE HE H ----------11 c:[1:::: ----T!:: TEL: зŧŧ -----3000 EIII ..... -3:44 E HE H HH. 11 ttrtt -----int in ---------------EFF ..... FHIL 14 <u>HE</u> ------111 101 辞臣 tt ::····· \_\_\_\_\_ 1111E Ed es (i fi 4000 EH •  $+ \lambda$ -------------------------• ----11.F ----- h.... i. 1111 E ----------17 ----1..... - F ----- $-N^{T+1}$ 1.455 -----101112 N===== -----===== ---------------------------5000 0 50 Temperature (°C) -100 150  $\rightarrow$ 

r. Fitti v

0 ..... ----1.... 1.83 11121 \*\*\* 1..... ======= \_\_\_\_\_ 121 Hibernia B--08 1111 ------: .... ---------111 + Ne Lein 7, 4, 17, 2 ---------1471 n ler. 1000 1.17 Depth (m, B.S.F.) 1111 1.7 ----------111 Elleri 115 ĖΨ . ----..... -----..... Ŧ. -1. 1. 1 -----. . Ý XIII! 1111111111 1 THE H \_\_\_\_\_ -----. -----...... ----2000 4 - - -1 111144 E .... t; ; ; ::::E 12 TI-LI-..... ..... ÷ ----3000 ...... 通知 ----------------tt -----..... 1.771 -------------..... FIL <u>Her</u>le X-1177 STIT ----1.... HH -----it fe : E | | r toole is a set of the set of th 1115117 4000 1. -----ΗŢ -----THE N ..... 184 Χ. ..... ...... ..... 1111 -----. ţ, <u>-</u> ..... <u> = |</u>= 12 - <u>-</u> -----. . . . - 11 ..... -----112711 =\-=== 50000 50 Temperature (°C) --> 100 150

- 86 -

- 87 -0 <u>HHE</u> 2111 mpri ...... ..... EE ------2010) 1 Fill Et er kon Hre leit: G--55 Hibernia .......... -----..... 111/215. 1.... L . . | -tri -117 ..... H ..... -----IT LE IT 21112 1000 Depth (m, B.S.F.) 1.11 \_\_\_\_\_ HE -----..... . . . ------44 hiti i ..... XIIII ¥ di Han 111111 N 1111 出出 ..... ----i li Hi HEL 2000 X 111 TT • • • • • • • • • • • • -----X -----11 1444 Hill 2711 ITLELINE IN trrtrint. ---------------111 THE THE TE 대학교 t:H. ### -----<u>11:400</u> 1111 111........ TTF-3000 -----£112 ----iii lei -----111111 HHT 62 66 11 1111 1111 +++++ χ. . . . . ...... 111.68 Netlini ..... 1..... 1.... -----. **.** . \*\*\*\*\* --V-----. ...... N .... 4000 ---------Tr: ----1-1-1 ...... A la construction de la construcción de la construc XIII. 1111 ..... : L\_= [;= 1:1:::: ----X ----H -----1111115 -----------11 -N ----· .... ----5000-

50 Temperature (°C) —  $\rightarrow$ 

100

														88															
				197													i i				EEE		-5- LL						
$\langle \cdot \rangle$							5.6.117			1.1	<u> </u>								1		= 11					114			
									1		11111				1,44										1.7.1.1		TT: 11:		
	X								<u>  :</u>																		***		
T:P:	$\lambda$			:1::;;		- ::			1		i hann	121	1.1		ΞĒ				Itti:							: E			
1.1	- <u>```</u>										-					HE	171-7	TE	ਸ	ibe	m	ia	T-	46					
	<u> </u>											::::			<u>-</u>			1.1.	1:1-1.2	1152	1.5T.	::::,		2117					÷
	<u></u>		1	4-4-4 m 1-1										1															
		X	-	-								1755		1111								17							
		X				11							, <b>.</b> . :			1111			11.		b.P								
															1111				1, 221			+ ;	:	1					
			$\overline{\langle}$																										
			-		;						1		1.772	1111		1							1						
		-	-14	\			11.5512-5																			111			Ē
1.11.1		11111			1					;;		<b>-</b> :1:			1.11			1				1	1:		1114				1
				<u> </u>												11.21													
					X			1523	· · · · · · · · ·		17.75	=												ļ:==					
			1		×			i EEE							1.11				1	1		1	ttr.	i			E H		
• • • • • • • •						(								1177								11.7.5							
approfe # 1 1 1 1						1		-	1				1117				1	· · · · · · · · · · · ·											
		11111			1211	$\sim$		114		1111		111		1	74				115	1111	14.5							1.	1.1
							N.		1		ine c						111												
1111							X																						
					0.00												- L.I.I				1			1111				-	
							$\langle \rangle$		1	11.1																			1
							14													1		1				II:			-
			THI	11111		1,11		VIII	TTT	tili	11777	TH	117	T.F.	ri li		11.1			1177	111	11.11		Tit		πħ			-
-		1.1.1.1.1.1			Trees to			Aur:	1	11:1:	1111				ΠÌ		11.1											11	T
			han 171	112211	1171	<u>;::::</u>		1 1:22		1:11:	11211	1		1.1.1.4			14771						<u></u>	1111	1111 				
				Hhir				1.1	Finite State		111					. E E .	ЦĘ								###			= -	
			-	122					1	577							÷.						HE				E	3	-
					EFFE		intit'	= = = = =	1	L					1			111111			121								
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	• · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		* :   +						1									+	-			+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +				· · · · · · · ·			
						1111				X						in fil	:												
										1				1												- 71			
					1					-F																			
											1		1																
*****				-							1										1							1	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·								x.		1-7-														<u></u>			-	
																								;					Ξ
								-				1	1																
						*****				1	·	$\left  \right\rangle$								12.22		1177	1						-
******												=														- I I		1: 1:	
											İΞ		×.				1±1;					E			T				****
									1				1::::3				2, F,		1111	ÈTT:				11E	<b>;;;</b> ;;		Harla		-
														Z															
				- Herri	1212	<u> </u>				HH		FI		T:M	ΗH	EHE -	it!!		Life			LTFI.			111	111		1	
															H.	I E I L	Hit								LE.			H	
									1:11					1:11		Hit			1				11.1					1	4
				12222		==::			1:1:1		1:1.,	111	12271		171-	111	::::		1,										t
						1115			1	1	1222	111		122	12.11	1			1.11	112 11					11111			11 11	
				1111						11.1		<u>FH</u>			131	ΞŤ	3.57	<u>rtiltir</u>			121	L-i:			F11			-	
		на в с в с разво с в с в станов станов с в с в станов	-	-					1				En												===				
								1	1.7.71		En.		1			tt:		<u>م</u>			1117		ct t						
																				1				1					
																		N.		E							TT		
			-				the second											7-12		HE.									
		1							1	1:::						-7:11	Ξ.		N=:			1.5.1		11				-	
- mana																			1-5	1						-			
: .			-	:1::::			=:	:		1										Y				1					
••	1 1 .						-							1						i Ar									
. 1				1		- 1		:		:	1.::-		1								X.			1					
		1			····				1		1:		1-7.1		11:1	:					7:	1		1					-
								-			1									+	1	<u></u>							
										1	1											<b>.</b>		A Contract of	and the second s		terreters ( ) and	-# * * ****	-

0 -													89	-											
	X		1													=						nin 1 in ann an i Ian 1 i an ann an i Ian 1 i an ann an i Ian 1 i an ann an i			
	$\langle \rangle$		<b>F</b>  .;							115		1		-1-				1		111111					
-		<u>\</u>			: 						1		<u>1</u> r		:.r.										-
-		$\overline{\mathbf{x}}$													1.1.1			1	fibe	mi o	T 27				
-				*** * * * * * * * *		1.::-						1		***							0				
-			X			· · · · · · · ·												1117			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
		NI	$\mathbf{X}$		i .u'																				ŀ
			X		112.1				H- H-	litte															
				V		1	······································																	-	
				-12-1-																					
									+1																
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				21.53																			
				Z			1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1						1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-			+	771171111					+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +			
-					1																		1		
-																									
-								11.1			* * * *			111	trtr Dat										
. []						-/-			1	1		111			÷FF									1	
						1							ELE I												
														HF:											
							l∱≓÷i;						1	144						HELLE					
-					-																				
00					-																				
-									··· · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · ·		1	1 1 i		· · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·									
-				***		L	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++						* **) * * **)												
-							/	1.11						1											
						1						- c:;	22	<b>-</b>											
-								/																	
													Đ		<b>E.F</b> -										
-		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	2.		-			÷.V																	Ŧ
					-						E1	1	H.T												
÷	···								7	1 1 1 1 1 1		1:11	.1.121												
1										11111															
00										1	1														
					-																			-	
									<u></u>			1.12													
-										\														÷ :::	-
:										÷														-	-
										1									+						
-																									
Ē											1					1						1.		: 	
															2127				-						
H												¥							-					-	-
									12.															1	-1-
000					-	14771							X			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					·		·		
-								====		-		=	X			HE.								-	
										-			+	NC LL		E			-					-	-1
												-		ETT,	X.										-
					-							1			-7	+				k		1			
										-	1	1.22													1
-																==1			-					-	1
												1							··· · · · ·						:1:
						1																			
Ļ																									
1	·	1							<u>  </u>			+												-	
			And an electron								1		1	a) and the second se	Be been in the		A DESCRIPTION OF A DESC			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	a second s				

Temperature (°C) -->

90 --0 -----1111111 ----F. LT | ...... .... -----inffe Li ----EEC F 1111 ----------and a constraint of an array of a state of a p. p. 10. 10. 3 1 dor o 1 X-18 . . . Hibernia --------------2414 -----ii-E------2:4 1000 THE T ΤL - Depth (m, B.S.F.) Th: 171 1, +++ -- ---------11:44 ..... HHH 112 ÷. N. 111: THE 111 HIMM 2000 HILE. TFF ;;;; X 1 THY. 1.1.,111 ----X, .... ..... 11.11 3000 ---------H ----..... .... 1.1.1.1 朝日日 -11 <u>}</u> .... ----HT. す言言 ----..... -----..... 1-----FEHE 4000 \_\_\_\_ -----..... 11171 FH. ---------..... · · · · · · · · · · · · 1 -----÷ 1 ---------------..... ---------n fer e hilat: \_\_\_\_\_ 17112 · · · · · · · · · · -----5000 0 50 Temperature (°C) -100 150 ≻

- 91 -0 F= 11. ÷ 1.m. 1.m. . ...... Hi: ..... HE HE L. . . . . . .... :::::: : Ēr  $\langle \cdot | \cdot \rangle$ -----0-35 Hibernia 117 11-11 47171 ЦĒ ----금법보험 El El El El -----= | | ----F.1. ΠĒ 1000 ---------Depth (m, B.S.F.) 1 ----------H --------17 Fr \_\_\_\_ .... 1... 말하는 .... -----10 ( E E V THE -HF 2000 XIIII 1..... 1-1-1-1 -11 1. -+ --Lit. 11.11 - - Hi: <u>\_\_\_\_</u> 5,511,11 THEFT 1.1 Eilt 3000 THE TT-TT: ---------ETE: ..... HH 1 HE 177 FH 17,1 H HEIH HHHH FELEE HI HH 田里 FEELEE 4000 .... ÷. 計 T-TT ..... ...... THEFT ---t der ------7-11-TT: .... 2211 12 1.111 1.11.55 ur de X ume. L::- [ TIT ---------<u>...</u> E E r El tro i X---------111 50000 50 Temperature (°C) -> 100 150

11111111111

- 92 -0 1200 \_\_\_\_ -14 目目 ----Free Herei Ŧ tel te ..... P-15 -----Hibernia ..... 5 51, 4 111 1.1 1000 Depth (m, B.S.F.) XIIIII EH hitra = ---------..... H H H Ħ ..... ----ι.Υ. ti HHL TTE X THE T V THE 2000 X HEL:T ..... 田田田 1 11: 1111. XIII 13,674 THE FFHE . E-H FF E F ΗĽ 11 1 1111 TH DH 7444 TE 3000 ----EHB -----**\***\*# 필말 Į. :::::: 1----Linist 1111 ---------• -----E -----1 TH ------in in a single ser EHEF 4000 71 ..... 1.1 Ŧ 111 -----HT. F ----H-Lir Z, ...... ÷. ×-----..... .... NE -------N-1 ----H-1 ----in Liter ÷F; N. --------.... 50000 50 Temperature (°C) -> 100 150

11-1-11

0 -----11.11.1.1.1.1 -----..... ------ ---------7:212 1..... Murre G-\$7 an an harman sport of the state of the shade of the state ..... -----..... Ţ ---------14:11 111 1000 -----Depth (m, B.S.F.) -+-T-I-I +1..... 111111 \_\_\_\_\_ 1.1.1. X 相助 H. ----------Ē  $\chi$ V HE 11 1 2000 出日日日 il, hif ------HT. LF HHH Lit -111 i ii -----3000 ----\_\_\_\_ ---------X ..... ------------------1..... 1 4000 Ŋ. ----111 -1---------------Y. ...t= ----------×. ---------------2712.7 111 112 =/===== \*\*\* . . . . . . . ------ x herd a s herd a s -----50000 50 Temperature (°C) — 100 150 ⇒

.........

1.1.1.1.1.1.1

- 93 -

	<u>}</u>																								
	/			5 . 4															ir::	L.		tir:			
		$\lambda$																TT		4.7.	1	<u>C</u> +	<u>a9</u>		
					la France				 				;					571			18	0	7.6		
																							, i ! !		
			$\left  \right\rangle$																						
000																	-								
÷.					X								11.22	17 E 11 I					E E F. F.		LeF:				
B.S		• • • • • • • • • • • •			X									- 11									1		
ъ́				,		Z												LEI#			1				
th						X																			
Dep							$\mathbf{X}$							1.1.							1:1:				
								$\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{H}}$													FIT.		H.		111
¥																									
2000																			+++++						
									7														<u>H-</u>		
										X														-	
	Area 114 1 11																		- <u>-</u>						
											X							in ti							
											il À			ΞĒ											
												X													
3000																									
													1												
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·													7		Ē									
														1											
															X										
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·														X										
																Z.									
4000									LITI								•		EEEE			1			
																			$\leq$						
									 											$\mathbf{X}$					1
																					X				
												7									++++	Ż			
							· · · · · · ·					-											Ý.		
				- El Ir					 																
5000		1									8 million ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) (												<u>++++</u>		

- 94 -

95 -0 -----Y E III HEIFF HEFI Skua E-4 -----**†**|**†**| 1000 <-- Depth (m, B.S.F.) -----FFFFF 11111 FFFFFFFF 2000 Ħ HE XH \*• 計劃理 HEIH 1111 3000 \* - 10 - \*\* X <u>hi</u>ri HELL tit -trtit H 111111 T-HEFE HEF -----HEEE HEF-H EEFF HH H HH ----F40 2 221102 ENTE: 4000 ttri: tth: ---------I PARTE I 1111 1.11 5000 50 Temperature (°C) --> 100 150

PURPER ADDRESS

96 -0 -----South Tempest G-88 r- F artat 11141 hi. . | | | | | | | 1000 - Depth (m, B.S.F.) 1-1-1 N 2000 3314 -11-X Little THE X 3000 LOURING AND CO. HE HE ĒĘ. FREE HELE ΗV f i j i j ----4000 ++++++ 111 -----1.11 \_\_\_\_\_ E 11111 111 50000 50 Temperature (°C) -> 100 150

97 -0 ---------hH. 11111 -----Hide H 11:1-2: :4::: nii ii it. item , **11**11 te est ..... . . . . . . -..... . .... 1.510 ------HE . Spoonbill C-30 11111 ------1.1 -----3,1.2 -----.... 11: ----1000 . I== 1.15 . S.F.) -----ee Pe -----------щ. Depth (m, 1. : 1 1.1 γ. <u>171</u>3 ---------------..... 11111 1 ..... 11 .... 1 171------Đ Ý 11 ..... -----2000 --------------X in fiar ..... ----------12 1EE -----..... - -----11 7.1 ------1.11 ..... ---------1.40 FEFFFF E Hur -----1.... A: 17 3000 1.... ..... X -----1742 E 1E - H :44:7 1..... - 1 ----FELX: TIE ..... -----T Lat · 7: -÷ 1 E -1:: - FÉ --------top the base of 1711111 122 -1 ------111 H.T 11 ..... <u>,</u> ..... HE L . . . . . . . . . . . . X ; . 4000 11111 . 1-1-1-1 -X TH: in fri Trible H - 12-1 .:-11 1.1-1 Y.... ------1 H H -----. 1117 1.152 × .... Contraction of the second seco ----1. in . . X..... ---------..... -----..... ----1...... 11. 50000 100 150

50 Temperature (°C) - $\geq$ 

0 ...... H. 111 ..... mant - 1 - - - 1 r. r. . . . . . ..... ...... [7:1:]+ ::]*2*.7 B.13-West Flying Foam 1-23 -----1..... 471:::: :::|E. ----1.12 ---------1000 24-1 11111 Depth (m, B.S.F.) -----; \_\_\_\_\_ ii:† -----1111111 ----11 - 4 .... --------H.: | | | | ..... .... ..... ----11 111 ..... 1.11 1:41 1111 11:12 \_\_\_ -----Herline 11.H 171117 \* \* ¥ 1,11 2000 ELEF 2111222 2222723 :::::: ----THE ΞĒ ..... 1-----------.... T. F. F THE F ...iti 11111 4062 r::[] 井타다 -1:; 3000 ...... ..... FF TT IT = 144 ------..... ...... X 11 -E-1-------THHE #### H. F ..... -N ...... ----ΞIJ :... -----i i ruur ==!!= . . 4000 H 111.5 ----11 555 X-I--1.0 1.1.1. -----..... 127 N. . . and an an A to down 7 ---------7. - 4. **1.**..... X . . . ----1. i NE FI H 1.71 5-74, EB 33 ------- - - -1. 1-1-1 - XI..... ----10012 ----1..... 50000 100 IÈO  $\rightarrow$ 

- 98 -

50 Temperature (°C) -

5		1	1											-	- 9	<u>19</u> .	-				,												_
$\left  \right\rangle$													1				,						11 17 m	ieth:									::
	1																													100 p - 1 - 1 100 p - 1 - 1 10 - 1 - 1 10 - 1 - 1 10 - 1			1
						-	-				1											55				7-7-1							1
		$\left  \right\rangle$				-		1	1211	1			1.7					- 1-				h				<u> </u>		<u>.</u>			-		-
										141		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					1111		::::			Ac		phu	S	U-5							
									Hin:		11				1272	11.1						AC	101	pnu	S	~1	4	1				: ::::	1
			N.		-						1									11:5		TE			1.	1							-
	<u>i.                                    </u>					1																111							<u>i</u> ni			:	
				\.						- 11											1 1	1						terr					-
	1		DE JE	Ň					1								* - 1 ** • 1 1 : • • •						::: .::::				Th.	1	1111			`::::	
	11.11				~								, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,															1:1:					
						1							42																E			h= h	
:.	1.11												51				211			::::::	::::		· · · · ·		17	1117					1		
1.1	1					À																i.E.e	1			:111				[:::r			
	1.1.1		122.217		- 1-1		X																					1					
					+							1.1.	1-1-1									171				LT II		1	1				
						-							1.71			;			11:11			:ET; F					rtti			1111			-
	F				1111				X										111		1												
1	1	, <del>,</del> , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,				11/11/ 11/11							1447 111					1117 1117		1111 1111		1111							r‡11	71.11 7111		1111	
	1							114		À	111	iiii Irren					1171		1:1* :T2:T:													1	-
	11111												1711					- <u>+</u> ;;+-	1					1121715 (5123.01	11					1.71.1	11:1:1 1:1:1:		-
		1111		++ 11		1771							175		1.1									rd: f	ti				tti 1				-
	11											N	X						1.11		1171									1	1111		
						-		First					11								514	111				I Fili							1
								FIE						1											+++		i Fi						-
		1						171							1		<u>+</u>						<u> </u>			<u>FH</u>		Ħ		Titil.	7717 		-
<u> </u>	1								FILE,						0	×		- 1-					14		T						1		1
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				1									>	<b>c</b> ``	X.	•												LET.	<u>I</u> E		+
	1222																						T										-
				tti Ei	TT =		H=H	14FF									ΞĒ		3														1
	1																<u>.</u>			1						<u>r:r</u>					1711		+++++
÷	1100		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	=													Li i	†		-1					Ŧ								-
	1																																1
	1.1 -					1727		in the		H.F.	·····	1		1711						1	X										111		ļ
															111	1					0		-							-		11.1	1
							1						11					1.711		2		ò			12						:;::	· 4 · · · ·	-
			17.00						11.771					:::::				11.7	111.	ו	×	1.	1111					firth			.rt.;		-
1		No.				1 1 1		017	1				1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1			1:17	HFL		Li Li	0	1111	a	[1]]	Tille	H				144			1	-
								1-1-	1771	11.5				1 6 9 4		1		1	172			12.1			÷.					111:			
	1 ::					1141								1111					****			HE											-
1						-	-		11.1.1				1117					211		1124		1141 1141			11			1111			111.		-
							112.77	111			12	1	::::	1.11								1-1-1-1	1 1	10011	11						1.1.1		
								1.1.1.4.		11.1 1.1				, 171	1.771			1111										111					
	1			· 1%					1.11	•									1111												7.11 1.11		-
											11.17				Trite.		1.552			1.1.1.1	•								,				
	1: :				-1					11	1 = .	1	 m													1							
							-		1				) <u></u>	1				1122					1217		11								1
							11.1					1	1111								tit!	3H-											
:						-				1	1				1																		
-		1.1.1				-					;;																37:		5.5				and and and
-								1											4. 										117			•	
11		1									feeri a	· · ·			111117 1.17,1	- :		· · · ·	222								et i f		TT 7 7		•		1

lemperat

100 -0 ..... \*\*\* Ellin 1 ---------EIFE - 6.4 . . . . 田田 ITT 111 E --------------36 ; 46 ; ----Egret-K-t N **∕≻** HE T TH: 11: :1.7 司出田 ΠŤ 1000 E li rt 물리 -----Depth (m, B.S.F.) -----100 EF -11 474 -aile: 111111 176444 HEI ----110 ¥ HAR FFF ----------11:12 田出 2000 -----把屈住 T E H <u>-</u> tirtt 起幕 ≪ .... 1 ŧ HEE 3000 Ŧ Θ E== HF. 111 1:11:1 1 1.74 ----------빌려 T.L H N -----H E 111 E E Frix. HŦ EDI **T** 4000 -Eiler 프라크 詽 <u>1</u>-61 H 1111 **strift**in 비민민 臣臣 1942 1.1.1. ---ς. n n 808 E de E 27.12.2 FUE 117 1.... ----X: ..... 5.45 i de la calendaria de la c the set of sector ----- $\sim$ -----ener: 5000 in1.73 50 Temperature (°C) — 100 150

1,1,1

72-			1				1					1										******		****		11111	2112			12.00	
	\							1.1.7.				1																			
	$\langle \cdot \rangle$												1			1			1.17		tert:					<u></u>		÷:ŀ:		13) <del> </del>	1
	11.17		17						11.111								n unti			I**						.,.!.		17712	111	441144	1
-		<u></u>											1		1.27			F77-F													: :::
-				-		1111					÷	1.273	14	227.1			HHT.		57.												
1		$\langle \cdot \rangle$			141	1111							12-11	EEn	parama de Inconectoria	<u> </u>	-EE	1112		1111	177	T'T V	in	o I T	708	am	T	13			
																						1. J	-		-	0.07	T	27		22	
-		X						122			+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +							:::::				Més	4		× 44	46	±Υ	111	-T	~	
	·					ELF.		1111	HTE:			Bat		TE:	L			747					-1:	212				7.5.5			
1:	••••••••			-		1111	<u> </u>									1.1							-			titi					:
1:5	1.1			': E::	.i E:				1:11		1.11	1.5	ci]		1.1		HH	111		1964E	211			8 H	11	111			Hell		1 1
1				1		10	17.17	1		171.0				77711				11.1		1-111		ri Li				11:17	77 L	::::		111 4	: : . :
11-	· · · · · · · · ·			<u>\</u>				· · · · · · · ·						1		****	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			1											
		1		$   \rangle$					ĽΞ	1111	****			<u>.</u>	155			1.1.1	-11-				i la	H	#	HT F					
					/	1:211		1111	155	1712	1.11			1111		A 11		14/11		1111		15 1.1			1		111	144		11.1	1 1.
1 -	11	1.1.1			X	1111	1.11			11-1-		;	1.1.1		144		+++	11111					-16								-
	:				LI N	(HE)	1::1		41		111	1-44		1111	Цd					Liit			비민	내날		:::1	<u>til  </u>		브. [		
					1:::::			=====	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++												::::::					1111					:
1																		·				·						-	-+		
1 :.	1			-			$\lambda$	<u> </u>		1							E	E	_										TT.		1 227
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			-LC	1-1-	1			.1	<u></u>	1		- <b>t</b> ::											174	t::/:					:::::
			1					K.	1 g 6 4		++++	TETT			11.1		++11	- F		4-4-4 p-1		- FF	TH		HF						-
					1				1111		t‡F:	FLIT	11:1	HL.	111	1177	14	rta.	FFL:		HIH				II i	HH	H, I			1111	; ] : : :
	1.1		;=::-	+				111	444	11.1	HE	144	14		ET HE		114	ELE	11-	÷Щ			: 3		HH		4				1 111
					-1.1+	i i i i i			X		1	+								7							ΞH	tin F			
1				1151		11T	TIT				TH					111	[11]	TF													1 : 1 :
1:1	11					HH			1111	XH	1111	111				1111	ΗI	14-	.111		111	+++		ЦH	44	44	11	111.	44		111
1			1.1.1	1 1 11			t ri		TH		111	111+		1:11		rtin	1111	1111	1111						1:11	ri el e				111	1 ; ; ; ;
,				111		1111	1111		1111								111												111		
				1 1211							$\langle \rangle$																				
1						111		1	1:11			NT IT				1111	TH		:	1.1-			T E							1.1.	
1		,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,									1111	<u> </u>			1111		.:!;														1
1.11								1.11	1-1-1													11 21				111		===			112-
							27		: :: :								1	tri i i			11111	1.		c, tig			11	141	1		: Tit
						- 1												· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·													+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +
111					1337			1		<u></u>	-11-			0		112			-		, E E	111			ŧĿŗ	計書			=		
				E	1	THE	L.F.	HE	++++		<u></u>			1		FFF								E H	++						7 7 7 7
i.					• • • • • • • • •					1 - 1		, , , ,				1.11				11111	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++									1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1	
	: j		1	2 14	1:11		411								4	<u>lii</u> i	<u>.</u>		44					+++++	<u></u>	14	414				1
11						1.1.1		1111							- <u>}</u>							17 14	7					TEE	L I		
								1 1 1		1			1.7.4	1 - 1 - 1		1 1 1 1 1				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·											
1						HH.		444				11	11.			QHI I	111			HER.					<u>-</u>	111		11-11		1/1 · · ·	1.17
				11.				711		1111	=					/												-			-
0								1 1 1 1 1							1	1	****			,				1				1 1 1 1 1 1			
				-					11:12					÷		- Ŧ	==							III.	11						
	11111			- 19 E		出生	F===+	田	1		1:11	H.:	E.	141	144		λ	T	L. L.		当日						in:		14		
						111.55					1		==1				- 1									1125					
				1111			Here										-7			f171.**			- i ti	TF.							
															111			(HII)					i i i								-
									:::L:				UT :		1111	1:11	1	+	::::			- F		111	Erli		171		-1-1		
													- ++ 					1	++++	+++++											-
1.:					+===		H.	1.77 FT		1	÷	1115	.:::		THE	ET		. 20	X		in i	田昌			ŦŦ E	Ξ-h	1				: G.
1.			H. 11			11:			11:11		÷	111	111		E	HEF-	말		1	t-EE	2112		E H	L: L:	÷		τŦ		ET I		1
									· · · · ·					1 + + + + +			h estat TT h	1.1.1 1.1.1	1.7.1						11.		1111				
1					:1:11:		1223	1.11	11.2	11:1					47	1.,:			HEN	; <u>1</u> :								tr; I			
					-	11=	<b>1</b> ,	115		Firf.			1175	4				금문구	515	-		E							F		
		1 1		1	-					1111								1		N-N-		-			T1.12						
0		Letter Line			-		<u>111</u>	1					::t:	111	+	1	1 ET	±i i F	1.1.4.4		vit.		:::		1.			1=1;			-
1.2								1	71-1-						=		+		177		1										
																		++++++	11		X						+				
::.	::::::			- 17		the fe	h										t- i-		1.1					-11-							
1					1222	TT	Fiil	EHF	1177					171	111	-		::::E	- E	H-H		= 112	==		EF E	Ξt					
							l.rgar	1		1	1		11;;			1-11		-1-1		1	171								====;		
						ILTL:			127.22	11.71					Tata			1111		1	: 1.1	m.tit									
		-			1:						- ind				12			TT1					- N					TEE			123
	1111		1.11.1					L				1						1						-1	7-1-						: 1:::
.:						1		17.1		:1:		11.1	1111	<u></u>					11-11	in:tr				÷							
1			1 11 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		1920			1. Ann -		-				===		+777							E		-						: 117
1	1.1					1			p-4 m-6																						r ist
			1				1	1																							-
					1111								1				L						-			:					
1		1		====	starty	1	1	1											11:				-								-
										1 .										and the second s	-	the first of the local second	ALC: NO. 10. 10. 10.		ALC: NOT THE OWNER OF THE OWNER OWNER OF THE OWNER			MALL STREET			

11.1

- 101 -

				j * * *																	X			y	
							1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1										Ň								
													1		$\langle$	•									
-000																									
2000												X	X									I, I			
										 ò	•														
									•																
							· · · · · ·																		
3000																									
								Ţ	o,																
								•																	
						/																			
¥ 2000																									
- De																			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·						
pth (m			~	<b>`</b> .																					
B. S. F.)									· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·																1
1000				1								L, ] ] - [ ] -				H	i be	rni rni	a	0 P	35 15				
										2 2 min 1 1 2 m 1 1 1 2 m 1 1 1 2 m 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	1 des 1 1					H H H	ibe ibe	rni rni	a	J- K-	46 34 18				
									· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·							H	ibe	rni rni	a:	B G	08 55				
					7																				

- 102 -

..... FIGURE 1A 10 . 1 1:: f 50 Hour and Pr HHE Corret ation. ojec tions 111111111 180 FFFFFFF 160 140 ----114 120 /. . . . Litter 1111 EHE 100 . . / I 1 旧 ++++ Projected Temp.: CT (°C) = ELE: -.... ------175 H -----20 

100

120

140

ΗE

180

160

- 103 -

· I inthe inde , Essen co.

. Э

05

20

<u>....</u>

40 60 80 Projected Temp.: 50-hr. (°C) ->

·1 UL + 11.

	Hibernia B-08		6111.						108.	f				.893		1.425	10.7808	18.3915		- ey				
	Hebron T-13						e		.444		• 555			•783	188.	2.684	4.113	4.321						
	Flying Foam	.0278	.1249								1.414			1.662	5.7669			8.0218						
LLe	Egret N-46		.0664						.247		-361			.490			869.	086,						
in Each Wé	Egret R-36	,023	.0388						.2293		297			619.			1.682	2.646						
LE LA ed Horizons	Dominion 0-23	.0368	1574			3.5687								5.0508	7.2218									
TABI or Specifie	Cormorant N-83		.0408						.2339							-	182.			-590	1.298	3.5853	7.6698	12.066
TI Values f	Bonnition H-32	.023	+0.53					.219						.7404			2.0927	2.9248						
Ē	Ben Nevis I-45		.0708				.4519				2.1129			3.291	9.5179	25,8207	63.6082	91.3046					•	•
	Adolphus 2K-41	.033	.2632		1.5553			2.974	5.769		24.2469													
	Adolphus D-50	.0441	.1889	.9674	2,9785			5-8178	15.268		27.507													
	Top ef:	L.0119.	L. Eoc.	M. Eoc.	E. Eoc.	L. Paileo.	E.Paleo.	Maast.	Turon.	Ceno.	Albion	Aptian	Barr,	Haut.	Val.	Berr.	Tith.	Kımm.	OxF.	Bath.	Aal.	Plien.	SIN.	Nor.

-104-
		15		1			1		1	1						C	Seo	Tec	:hS	Surv	/eys	ș Li	mit	ed	
TABLE 1A	TTI Values for Specified Horizons in Each Well	W.Flying Foam										1.725	2.921	6.0279							J				
		Spoonbill						·0589			182									-					4079
		Skua E-41	.0259	690.											-319			.481	.S30	2.2359	3.0899	8,8886			
		Nautilus C-92									1.516	2.447			12.338	22.2073		258.5508	506.7206						
		Murre G-67	,023	,053						.176		• 226						.288			527.		1.992		
		HIBERNIA P-IS	.023	-0994					.2669	,602		888.			1.684	2.057	3.152	32.9889	51.3575						
		Hibernia 0-35		.0769						·5224		• 82S		1.489		2.311	4.571	19.6748	32.8407						
		Hibernia K-18						-	.296	.633		1.023			1.198	1.365	197.5	7.9319	10.079						
		Hibernia J-34							.245			603.		1.419		2,441						-			•
		Hibernia 1-46										-674			1.941									5.989	
		Hibernia G-55							.215			.656	1.002		2.79.7										
		Top of:	L.0119.	L. Eoc.	M.Eoc.	E. Eoc.	L. Paleo.	E. Paleo.	Maast.	Turøn.	Ceno.	Albion	Aptian	Barr.	Haut.	Val.	Berr.	Tith.	Kımm.	Oxf.	Bath.	Aal.	Plien.	Sın.	Nor.

-105-